Laboratory and in-situ non-destructive methods to evaluate the thermal transmittance and behaviour of walls, windows, and construction elements with innovative materials: a review

Nelson Soares ^{a, b, *}, Cláudio Martins ^b, Margarida Gonçalves ^b, Paulo Santos ^b, Luís Simões da Silva ^b, José J. Costa ^{a, b}

 ^a ADAI, LAETA, Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Coimbra Pólo II, Rua Luís Reis Santos, 3030-788 Coimbra, Portugal
 ^b ISISE, Department of Civil Engineering, University of Coimbra Pólo II, Rua Luís Reis Santos, 3030-788 Coimbra, Portugal

Abstract

The experimental characterization of the overall thermal transmittance of homogeneous, moderately- and non-homogeneous walls, windows, and construction elements with innovative materials is very important to predict their thermal performance. It is also important to evaluate if the standard calculation methods to estimate the U-value of new and existing walls can be applied to more complex configurations, since the correct estimation of this value is a critical requirement when performing building energy simulations or energy audit. This paper provides a survey on the main methods to measure the thermal transmittance and thermal behaviour of construction elements, considering laboratory conditions and in-situ non-destructive measurements. Five methods are described: the heat flow meter (HFM); the guarded hot plate (GHP); the hot box (HB), considering the guarded HB (GHB) and the calibrated HB (CHB); and the infrared thermography (IRT). Then, previous studies dedicated to the assessment of the thermal performance of different heavy- and light-weight walls are discussed. Particular attention is devoted to the measurement of the U-value of nonhomogeneous walls, including the effect of thermal bridging caused by steel framing or mortar joints, and the presence of PCMs or new insulation materials in the configuration of the walls.

Keywords: Thermal transmittance; U-value; heat flow meter; guarded hot plate; guarded hot box; calibrated hot box; infrared thermography.

Highlights:

- Review on the main methods to measure the U-value of non-homogeneous walls.
- Methods: heat flow meter, guarded hot plate, guarded and calibrated hot box, infrared thermography.
- Standards framework and discussion of the main advantages and drawbacks of each method.
- Description of methodologies and working principles of laboratory and *in-situ* measurements.
- Measurement of the thermal transmittance of different heavy- and light-weight walls.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Main methods for the thermal characterization of building elements	4
2.1. Heat flow meter (HFM)	4
2.2. Guarded hot plate (GHP)	9
2.3. Hot box (HB)	12
2.4. Infrared thermography (IRT)	16
3. Evaluation of the thermal performance of different types of construction elements	22
3.1. Heavyweight construction	22
3.1.1. In-situ measurements	22
3.1.2. Laboratory measurements	25
3.2. Lightweight construction - LSF assemblies	29
3.3. New or non-conventional insulation materials	
3.4. Window systems	
3.5. PCM-enhanced elements	
4. Conclusions	
Acknowledgments	41
References	42

1. Introduction

The thermal transmittance (U-value) of the building envelope plays a key role in the overall thermal performance of a building, in both the thermal comfort and the energy savings throughout its operational phase. In fact, as suggested by Sassine [1], evaluating how much heat is lost through the building envelope is a vital requirement for building energy simulation and audit, and it is also needed to support decision making during design, construction and refurbishment.

During the design phase, the thermal transmittance of the elements must be correctly estimated and optimized taking into account the climate conditions, the construction typology, and the final use of the building. In this context, the level of insulation is one of the main features that influence the *U*-value of the opaque elements [2], and it plays a critical role in energy saving by reducing the rate of heat transfer through the building envelope [3]. In literature, it is suggested that the level of insulation should be increased in colder climates to reduce the energy demand for heating, and reduced in warmer climates (while the ventilation and free cooling strategies should be improved) to reduce the energy demand for cooling [4]. The estimation of the overall thermal transmittance of building envelope components is also crucial when performing the building energy simulation, in order to optimize the design and the configuration of the construction elements and to reduce the energy demand for air-conditioning during the operational phase. This is usually carried out by considering the opaque element in terms of its different successive layers, and taking into account the

thickness and the thermal conductivity of each layer. In a very simple approach, the *U*-value can then be calculated by finding the reciprocal of the sum of the thermal resistance of each layer of the construction element. The internal and external surface resistances (fixed values are typically considered) should also be added. As stated by Evangelisti *et al.* [5], the external convective heat transfer coefficient is typically related to the wind velocity, wind direction and surface roughness. However, this layer-by-layer approach does not account for thermal bridges caused by metal framing crossing insulation layers in lightweight steel-framed (LSF) construction or mortar joints in heavyweight walls, air gaps around insulation and cavities with air movements, moisture contents, and so on. Moreover, as stated by Lucchi [6], the calculation of the *U*-value of construction elements composed by plane, parallel and uniform layers, in which the heat flow is unidirectional, is more theoretical than real. There is a number of standards that cover calculation methods to estimate the thermal transmittance of different construction elements, including some of the features listed above (*e.g.*, refs. [7][8][9][10][11][12][13][14]). However, the overall thermal transmittance of some nonhomogeneous opaque elements cannot be calculated using these standards.

The development of new laboratory experiments and innovative non-destructive insitu methods to measure the U-value of non-homogeneous walls has been a subject of great interest during the last years. On one hand, the results of these experimental methods are crucial for the validation of numerical or analytical models to determine the U-value of more complex configurations, and to support new standard procedures. On the other hand, the development of new non-destructive in-situ measurements to determine the overall thermal transmittance of existing walls is very important for energy audit, or retrofitting actions. In fact, as suggested by Sassine [1], when dealing with existing buildings, it is more complicated to perform the thermal characterization of the construction elements, since the properties of materials are usually unknown, components have often been degraded over time, and the experiments should be simple, fast, and non-destructive. Most of the methodologies described in the literature concern measurements of samples in laboratory conditions with well-known environmental conditions, geometries, configurations and materials. Therefore, there is a lack of reliable methodologies for *in-situ* measurement of the U-value of existing walls in real buildings, particularly for existing LSF walls. As stated by Gori et al. [15], the right evaluation of the thermophysical properties of building elements based on in-situ measurements can enable their performance to be assessed for qualitative assurance and correct decision in policy making, building design, construction and refurbishment.

This paper aims to provide a survey on the main methodologies used to measure the overall thermal transmittance and thermal behaviour of homogeneous elements, moderately-

homogeneous and non-homogeneous walls, windows, and construction elements with innovative materials, such as aerogel, phase change materials (PCMs) and vacuum insulation panels (VIPs). Homogeneous elements are typically made of one material or an assembly of materials with uniform thermal properties. However, construction elements traditionally used in buildings are not homogeneous, and they are composed by several assembled components. A non-homogeneous wall is defined as a construction assembly composed of parts that are not of the same kind (such as structural members crossing insulation layers, piping, electrical outlets, construction defects such as insulation voids, etc.) and materials with significantly different thermophysical properties. Therefore, the evaluation of the overall thermal performance of the wall as a whole can become very challenging since the thermal resistance of the different parts of the wall can be very different from each other. A moderatelyhomogeneous wall can be composed of several materials with diverse thermal properties, but considered as a quasi-homogeneous wall made of a material with equivalent thermophysical properties. This is typically the case of heavy masonry walls. In the first part of the paper five established methods are discussed: (i) the heat flow meter (HFM); (ii) the guarded hot plate (GHP); the hot box (HB) – considering (*iii*) the guarded HB (GHB) and (*iv*) the calibrated HB (CHB), and at last, (v) the infrared thermography (IRT). In the second part of the paper, some studies that used these methods are discussed, and other *in-situ* experiments are presented. Particular attention is devoted to the measurement of the overall thermal transmittance of LSF walls, by including the effects of thermal bridges caused by steel framing components and the presence of PCMs in the configuration of the walls. The *in-situ* thermal characterization of existing walls is also discussed in this part of the paper. In many studies, several methods are considered together in order to perform comparative analyses between results obtained by different experimental methodologies and to compare experimental measurements with standard and analytical procedures.

2. Main methods for the thermal characterization of building elements

2.1. Heat flow meter (HFM)

The HFM method is the most widely used technique for determining the thermal transmittance of a building element. According to greenTEG [16], this method is also the only procedure that provides reliable quantitative information about a building envelope. It consists in establishing a temperature difference between the two surfaces of the element and analyzing the heat flux across the specimen (from the "hot" to the "cold" side). Indeed, ISO

9869-1 [17] describes the measurement of the environmental temperature of both "hot" and "cold" sides for the *U*-value determination. For achieving good results, the wall must not have any significant lateral heat flux, *i.e.*, there must be a representative unidirectional heat flow. The predominant heat transfer mechanism in this method is conduction. Convection and radiation effects (boundary conditions) can be simplified, taken together and treated as an ambient temperature, which should be adequately measured. The HFM method can be applied in laboratory controlled environmental conditions or in *in-situ* measurements. Table 1 summarizes the main advantages and drawbacks of the HFM method. The ASTM standards cover most issues related to the HFM method. The ISO standards are more general, although they contain all the necessary information for the application of this method. Table 2 summarizes the main standards that prescribe the essential procedures that should be considered, matching the contents of the ASTM and ISO standards.

Advantages	Drawbacks
 Non-invasive method [18]; The higher the temperature gradient, the more 	- The measurement is local (does not consider the entire surface of the element) [21];
 reliable the results are [18]; Internationally recognized and most widely used [19]; Lightweight and easy to carry equipment [20]; Can be used in controlled laboratory conditions or in <i>in-situ</i> measurements [17]. 	 Time-consuming method that requires direct contact [17]; Long measuring time (more than 3 days) [17]; Completely adapted only for homogenous walls [17][22]; Lightweight construction elements and the presence of multi-layered air spaces lead to questionable results [23];
	 Highly dependent on the calibration and error of the equipment, outdoor and indoor thermal environment, thermal bridges, humidity and partial adhesion of sensors [21][23][24][25];
	- The degree of precision depends on temperature variations within the space and differences between air and radiant temperatures [25];
	- Dependent on the accuracy of the data logging system [17];
	- Difficulties in dealing with internal heat sources, <i>e.g.</i> , walls with internal pipes inside which hot/cold water flows[18];
	- It is relatively expensive and it leaves marks and damages surface of the building element [26].

Table 1 – HFM method: advantages and drawbacks.

For measuring the *U*-value of walls, the HFM method requires heat flux meters, thermocouples, and data acquisition systems. Figure 1 shows a sketch of a HFM laboratory apparatus, and an example of an instrumented wall. According to ISO 9869-1 [17], the data collected by the heat flux meter and the temperature sensors shall be recorded continuously or at fixed intervals over a period of full days. It should be pointed out that this standard was developed for *in-situ* measurement-cycles of 24 hours under outdoor environmental

conditions. The maximum period between two records and the minimum duration of the test depends on the nature of the element (*e.g.*, heavy- or light-weight construction, the insulation position, etc.), the indoor and outdoor temperatures (mean temperature and temperature fluctuations, before and during measurements) and the method used for the data analysis. The minimum duration for the measurements is 72 hours, if the temperature is kept stable around the heat flux meter; otherwise, the test may have to last over 7 days. The duration of experiments shall be determined by applying criteria to the values obtained during the test. According to the ASTM C1155-95 [22], the data of each sensor should be monitored at least every 5 minutes. With this, the average values of temperature and heat flow must be calculated and recorded in intervals of 60 minutes or less. The experiment should last three or more multiples of 24 h (24 h is a dominant temperature cycle). However, since temperatures on both sides are controlled (if/when in laboratory), the test duration must be adapted considering the temperature stability.

Table 2 - Main standards in	the field of the HFM method.
-----------------------------	------------------------------

ASTM	ISO	
Principles for the use of the method	and calculation of thermal properties	
 ASTM C1155-95 (2013) [22], "Standard practice for determining thermal resistance of building envelope components from the in-situ data". ASTM C1046-95 (2013) [27], "Standard practice for in-situ measurement of heat flux and temperature on building envelope components". 	- ISO 9869-1:2014 [17], "Thermal insulation - Building elements - In-situ measurement of thermal resistance and thermal transmittance - Part 1: Heat flow meter method".	
Steady-state thermal properties		
- ASTM C518-17 (2017) [28], "Standard test method for steady-state thermal transmission properties by means of the heat flow meter apparatus".	- ISO 8301:1991 [29], "Thermal insulation - Determination of steady-state thermal resistance and related properties - Heat flow meter apparatus".	
Thermal trans	mittance in glass	
	- ISO 10293:1997 [30], "Glass in building - Determination of steady-state U values (thermal transmittance) of multiple glazing - Heat flow meter method".	
Thermal storage properties in phase change materials and products		
- ASTM C1784-14 (2014) [31], "Standard test method for using a heat flow meter apparatus for measuring thermal storage properties of phase change materials and products".		
Thermal transmission properties of vacuum insulation panels		
- ASTM C1667-15 (2015) [32], "Standard test method for using heat flow meter apparatus to measure the centre-of-panel thermal transmission properties of vacuum insulation panels".		



Figure 1 - Instrumented outer surface of an LSF wall (test sample): sketch of the application of the HFM method in a laboratory controlled environment.

To evaluate the *U*-value in steady-state conditions, ISO 9869-1 [17] proposes the simple *average method*. The *average method* is very used because, in spite of leading to a longer test duration, it makes the calculation process simpler. In addition, it considers that the heat transfer process does not achieve a steady-state (which is what really happens), taking into account the variation over time of the heat flux and of the ambient temperatures. The *average method* indicated in this standard also proposes an alternative methodology for data correction, considering the effects of thermal storage (applicable to constructive elements with high thermal inertia).

The ASTM C1155-95 [22] indicates the *sum of least squares method* (rather complex method) and the *summation technique* (similar to the *average method*), requiring a significant difference between surface temperatures for fast convergence (the surface temperatures are required for the thermal resistance measurement). Since the procedure does not consider thermal storage, the method is sensitive to a gradual increase or decrease of temperature differences.

For evaluation of the *U*-value in a dynamic state, the ISO 9869-1 [17] presents another method with varying temperature and heat flow, to obtain the steady-state properties of a building element. The implementation of the *dynamic method* requires: (*i*) measuring the density of the heat flow rate and the temperatures at the indoor and outdoor surfaces, taken at several time intervals; (*ii*) computing the derivative of the indoor and outdoor surface temperatures; (*iii*) selecting the time intervals; (*iv*) computing the exponential functions of time constants; (*v*) forming the heat flow matrix; (*vi*) estimating heat flow vectors; (*vii*)

estimating total square deviation, and (*viii*) considering that the best time constant set is the one giving the smallest square deviation, which will provide the best estimate of the heat flow vector that allows in turn to estimate the thermal conductance.

The *average* and the *summation* methods are similar to each other and they can be considered the most widely used methods due to their simplicity and rapid achievement of results. However, the accuracy of the results can be strongly influenced by the measuring conditions. On the other hand, as stated by Atsonios *et al.* [33], the *dynamic* and the *sum of the least squares* methods are more likely to provide reliable results regardless of the measuring conditions. Nevertheless, they are less commonly used because of their complexity (*e.g.*, they require the use of complex algorithms and computational tools).

Atsonios et al. [33] carried out a comparative assessment of the four standardized methods described in ISO 9869 and ASTM C1155 for the in-situ measurement of the thermal resistance of three different walls (drywall, rubble and brick walls): the average, the summation, the dynamic and two different approaches of the sum of the least squares method (SLS HF and SLS TIN methods). Since the main limitations of the standardized methods are the duration of the measuring period and the dependence of the results accuracy on the measuring conditions, the authors evaluated the measuring period required for the experiments and the variability of the results of each method. They concluded that the average and the summation methods require a higher temperature difference between indoor and outdoor conditions to achieve reliable *R*-values in a short measuring period. Therefore, these methods should not be used when the temperature difference between the hot and the cold surfaces of the wall is too low. This conclusion is in agreement with the results provided by Desogus et al. [20] in a study to evaluate the use of the average method for different measuring conditions (with a temperature difference of 10 °C and 7° C). As pointed out by these authors, the reliability of this method depends on the temperatures difference between the two environments separated by the building envelope, and the smaller the temperature difference the less precise the results obtained. On the other hand, Atsonios et al. [33] concluded that for the dynamic and SLS_TIN methods, the results appear to be independent of the measuring conditions. However, the results are significantly affected by the direction of the heat flow, and present low variability (up to 6%) only if the heat flow direction is kept stable during the measurements. Regarding the SLS HF method, it is not affected by the measuring conditions, providing fast and reliable results at all cases [33].

Gaspar *et al.* [34] and Deconinch and Roels [35] carried out comparative studies on the use of the *average* and *dynamic* methods based on different measuring conditions. They concluded that in case of low difference of hot-to-cold surface temperatures of the wall, only the *dynamic* method leads to reliable results. Flanders *et al.* [36] compared the *summation* and the *sum of least squares* methods to estimate the *R*-value of construction elements of different buildings under winter *in-situ* conditions (high internal and external temperature difference). The results suggested that the latter method provides slightly lower *R*-values than the former, and that both methods can be used for temperature regimes encountered and for construction with the range of thermal mass and insulation levels evaluated. For these authors, each method has its intrinsic advantages: the *summation* technique is simpler (against its recognized random error), and the *sum of least squares* provides more information about the *R*-value sensitivity to temperature and better statistical report (against the complexity of the technique).

More methods for the *U*-value measurement based on the HFM approach can be found in literature, such as the RC networks [37] and the system identification tools [38].

2.2. Guarded hot plate (GHP)

The GHP method is suitable for determining the thermal conductivity in steady-state conditions, of materials or construction elements. While the HFM method can be applied to large-scale specimens (*e.g.*, full-size walls), the GHP methods are used for middle-scale or small specimens. Table 3 shows the main advantages and disadvantages of this method. The GHP apparatus is usually composed by two cold plates and a heated (measuring) plate bordered by a guard heating system (guard ring), as shown in Figure 2. An electric system heats the hot plate up, and a group of coolers or liquid-cooled heat sinks cools the cold plates down [39].

Advantages	Drawbacks
- Use of various elements and materials [40];	- Long measuring time [41];
- High accuracy [41];	- Limited to low conductivity materials [41];
- Allows the control of the heat flux through the material [41];	- Test on relatively small-scale samples (such as 300 × 300 mm [39]).
- Simplicity of design and reduced cost [42];	
- Most accurate technique for determining the thermal conductivity [43].	

Table 3 – GHP method: advantages and drawbacks.



Figure 2 - Sketch of the functioning of the GHP apparatus: a) two-specimen apparatus, b) singlespecimen apparatus. Adapted from ref. [44].

The operating principle of this method is very similar to that described for the HFM method. The heat flux is applied from the hot plate to the cold plate(s) in a direction perpendicular to the sample(s) surfaces, and the apparent thermal conductivity of the sample(s) is determined from the heat flux estimated after the heat input, the temperature difference measured between the plates and the thickness of the sample(s). In ideal conditions, the plates are in perfect contact with the sample, and the unidirectional heat flux is constant in time, while the border sector heated in a controlled way (so that its temperature equals that of the measuring heated plate) acts as an insulating guard, thus ensuring an adiabatic border [45]. Indeed, as remarked by Zarr [46], the GHP method establishes one-dimensional heat flow through the specimens by reducing undesired lateral heat flows to

negligible and controlled proportions. Table 4 presents the main standards in the field of the GHP method.

ASTM	ISO
Principles for the use of the method and calculation of thermal properties	
- ASTM C177-13 (2013) [40], "Standard test method for steady-state heat flux measurements and thermal transmission properties by means of the guarded- hot-plate apparatus".	- ISO 8302:1991 [44], "Thermal insulation – Determination of steady-state thermal resistance and related properties – Guarded hot plate apparatus".
Steady-state thermal properties in glass	
	- ISO 10291:1994 [47], "Glass in building – Determination of steady-state U values (thermal transmittance) of multiple glazing – Guarded hot plate method".

Table 4 - Main standards in the field of the GHP method.

To ensure the reliability of the results and the correct implementation of the method for steady-state conditions it is necessary to assume some considerations. Salmon [43] says that the plates of the appliance should be identical in geometry and material and as flat as possible, must have high emissivity surfaces and should be made of highly conductive material so that there is an excellent uniformity of temperature. Temperatures in the guard ring and measuring zone should be as similar as possible, and the width of the shield should be at least 0.25 times the width of the measurement area and not less than the thickness of the sample to ensure unidirectional flow. Moreover, there must be a good thermal contact between the thermocouples and the plates. These plates should be placed parallel to the surfaces in an isothermal region to limit the flow of heat along them and minimize the error in the measured temperature. Finally, ASTM C177-13 [40] indicates that the measurement should run for at least four 30 minutes intervals or four longer system time constants. With this method, it is possible to obtain the U-value of the element or material, indirectly. To do this, the equations given in ISO 6946 [8] should be considered. This standard provides a methodology for calculating the thermal resistance and thermal transmittance of building components and some building elements (consisting of thermally homogeneous layers), based on the appropriate design thermal conductivities or design thermal resistances of the materials and products. It also provides an approximate method that can be used for elements containing inhomogeneous layers. However, cases where insulation is bridged by metal are considered outside of the scope of this standard.

Labudová and Vozárová [48] studied the thermophysical properties of a material in the GHP apparatus, in a dynamic state. A mathematical formulation was adapted to calculate the temperature variation in the hot plate sensor, which is determined by measuring the voltage

change through the source. It depends on the electric current of heating, the initial resistance of the hot plate and a temperature coefficient of the nickel resistivity (flat heat source). It was concluded that perfect thermal contact between the source of the plate and the sample is hardly guaranteed, and that the thermal contact resistance can cause a possible thermal barrier between the sample and the heat sink, which leads to significant errors. Heat losses from the side surfaces of the sample(s) cannot be neglected, and during the initial seconds of the test, there is an influence of the thermal inertia of the heat exchanger and of the thermal contact resistance between plate and sample(s).

Thomas and Zarr [49] presented a mathematical model to measure the thermal conductivity of insulation materials in a GHP apparatus. The main steps of the study were: (*i*) to describe and confirm the incremental control algorithm and to determine satisfactory gain configurations using a mathematical model that simulates tests in seconds (not in days); (*ii*) to create and validate a model that responds by heating rates in the various components and interactions with their environments; (*iii*) simulating performance and dynamic control with the model and determining the configurations of the controllers. The determination of the temperature response is necessary to know the thermal storage capacities and the conductance values for all heat flow paths. With this, and by applying first-order differential equations governed by the energy balance, the dynamic system can be computed.

2.3. Hot box (HB)

The basis of the HB method is the measurement, at steady-state conditions, of the heat flux through the building components and the corresponding temperature differences across it. This method can be applied for the thermal characterization of homogeneous or non-homogeneous specimens and building structures or composite assemblies (*e.g.*, walls with windows, doors, etc.). There are two types of HB apparatus: the Guarded HB (GHB) and the Calibrated HB (CHB). Both methods are suitable for vertical and horizontal specimens (such as walls, ceilings and floors). The apparatus can be sufficiently large to study full-scale components. Figures 3 and 4 show, respectively, a sketch and a photographic view of the GHB apparatus. It consists of three main objects: the guard box, the metering box, and the cold box. A sketch of the CHB apparatus is shown in Figure 5. It consists of two main objects: the metering box and the cold box.



Figure 3 – Schematic of a typical GHB apparatus. Adapted from ref. [50].



Figure 4 – GHB apparatus installed at the Department of Civil Engineering of the University of Coimbra.

The GHB and the CHB apparatus differ from the mode in which the metering box is surrounded. The first one is the self-masking, which has a controlled "guard" chamber surrounding the metering chamber. The second configuration is the masked hot box. In this configuration, the guarded chamber is the surrounding ambient. The CHB surrounding ambient needs to be a temperature-controlled space, which does not necessarily need to be at the same air temperature as that inside the metering box. In the GHB method, the temperatures in the boxes are controlled in such a way that, as far as possible, the temperatures in the guard and in the metering boxes are the same. This is fundamental to ensure that the total heat supplied to the metering box passes through the test element in a perpendicular direction to its faces. In the CHB method, the heat flow that passes through the sample is determined from the total power supplied to the measuring box, correcting for losses or gains through the metering box walls and the flanking loss to the cold box occurring around the perimeter of the sample. These corrections are performed through calibration measurements, carried out prior to the test, using specimens of known thermal properties. Table 5 shows the main advantages and disadvantages of the HB method. Table 6 presents the main standards that contain all the necessary procedures in the field of the HB method.



Figure 5 – Schematic of a typical CHB apparatus.

The HB apparatus requires a set of verifications, which must be carried out to establish its adequate operation and accuracy [51]. Tests are performed by simulating end-use application, taking into account the effect of testing conditions. For this purpose, interior (hot chamber) and exterior temperatures (cold chamber), and air velocity must be reproduced. The ISO 8990 [52] suggests a difference of at least 20 °C between chambers. The time required to reach stability for steady-state measurements depends on the apparatus. The ISO 8990 [52] requires measurements for R- and U-values from two successive measuring periods of at least 3 hours after the equipment has reached the stability or near-stability. For specimens with a high thermal resistance, the test period must be extended. The HB apparatus can also perform dynamic tests to compute the thermal performance of a wall specimen. Burch *et al.* [53] proposed a dynamic test method for determining transfer function coefficients for a wall specimen using a CHB. The dynamic method predicted with good agreement the diurnal performance of a masonry wall specimen, as determined empirically. To carry out the dynamic tests it is necessary to know the response of the measuring equipment to temperature changes. The dynamic test is made by modifying the exterior air temperature, usually changing the cold box temperature in a sinusoidal cycle amplitude in a time interval within the capacity of the dynamic response of the equipment.

Advantages	Drawbacks	
Hot Box (HB)		
 The HB methodology is an accurate and reliable method for obtaining thermal resistance values on large-scale systems [54][55]; Can test homogeneous or non-homogeneous specimens [56]; The inside surface conductances provided by the box are similar to those that occur in practice under natural convection conditions, and realistic outside surface conductances can be provided in the cold room [57]; The possibility of measurements under both winter and summer outdoor temperatures without removing the sample [58]; HB large scale better simulates real phenomena, because the small-scale test does not adequately simulate the thermal performance when the specimen is under natural convection [50]. 	 Very expensive equipment [60]; Long measuring time [52]; Regular periodic calibration [61]; Does not give the distribution of surface temperatures for locations of strong thermal bridges [62]; Requires an operator very specialized in the equipment and thermal phenomena [56]. 	
Guarded Hot	t Box (GHB)	
 Does not need to have a calibration factor for the flanking loss of the metering box, due to the existence of the guard box [52]; More simple to calibrate than the CHB [52]. 	 The measuring area is limited to the size of the metering box [52]; More challenging to analyze inhomogeneous specimens due to the size of the metering box [52]. 	
Calibrated Hot Box (CHB)		
 CHB apparatus is simpler in design and operation than the GHB [51]; Allows testing of larger specimens [52]. 	 Flanking loss between the metering chamber and the climatic chamber through the specimen frame [63]; The laboratory temperature must be controlled to avoid corrections in the calibration factor [51]. 	

Table 5 – HB method: advantages and drawback	cs.
--	-----

Table 6 - Main standards in the field of HB method.

ASTM	ISO
Determination of	f thermal properties
- ASTM C1363-11 (2011) [56], "Standard test method for thermal performance of building materials and envelope assemblies by means of a hot box apparatus".	- ISO 8990:1994 [52], "Thermal insulation - Determination of steady-state thermal transmission properties - Calibrated and guarded hot box".
Determination of thermal transmittance of windows and doors	
- ASTM C1199-14 (2014) [64], "Standard test method for measuring the steady-state thermal transmittance of fenestration systems using hot box methods".	- ISO 12567-1:2010 [65], "Thermal performance of windows and doors – Determination of thermal transmittance by the hot-box method - Part 1: Complete windows and doors".
	- ISO 12567-2:2005 [66], "Thermal performance of windows and doors – Determination of thermal transmittance by the hot-box method - Part 2: Roof windows and other projecting windows".

The GHB apparatus was used in several studies to evaluate the *U*-value of different construction elements, for instance in refs. [67][68][69][70][71]. Brown and Stephenson [69] presented one of the first methodologies for measuring the dynamic heat transfer characteristics of a full-scale homogeneous specimen using the GHB. The calibration process was developed from first principles and supported by testing a specimen whose thermal characteristics were determined from measurements of material properties. The suggested methodology consisted of a series of measurements of the response of the test specimen, and facility, to sinusoidal variations of exterior temperature and internal power. An additional study of Brown and Stephenson [70] presented a development of the previous methodology, for measuring the dynamic heat transfer characteristics of full-scale non-homogeneous specimens. The study shows that the dynamic response of a wall system is quite sensitive to the magnitude of the interior and exterior surface convection coefficients. Geoola *et al.* [71] designed and constructed a GHB facility to investigate the overall heat transfer coefficient of different greenhouse cladding materials – polyethylene plastic films with or without thermal screens.

In a recent paper, Buratti *et al.* [72] proposed a new method – the so-called *small hotbox* apparatus – to evaluate the thermal properties of small specimens $(0.3 \times 0.3 \text{ m})$. Different samples with known thermal properties were analyzed (polistyrol, foam polyurethane, polystyrene, wood, plasterboard, and cement insulating blocks). Following these authors, the proposed method can be a possible alternative system to be used instead of the conventional GHP apparatus. Modi *et al.* [73] also proposed a *mini-scale hot-box* apparatus to evaluate the thermal performance of an insulation building block.

2.4. Infrared thermography (IRT)

In literature, IRT technique can be divided into qualitative and quantitative IRT. The former is considered many times as support for HFM measurements. Quantitative IRT can be used for assessing the *U*-value of construction elements.

Over the last years, the use of IRT technique has increased in building energy audit. In a recent paper, Lucchi [74] presents a critical review on the use of this technique, describing: (*i*) the main passive and active approaches, (*ii*) well-established and emerging techniques, (*iii*) general procedures, (*iv*) types of infrared (IR) cameras, (*v*) technical issues, (*vi*) main limitations of the IRT and potential sources of errors, (*vii*) main advantages of the technology, and (*viii*) future trends in the use of IRT for energy audit. The author also pointed out the potential of IRT for: (*i*) thermal characterization of buildings, (*ii*) detection of thermal bridging, insulation level, air leakage and moisture, and (*iii*) assessment of thermal comfort. Balaras and Argiriou [75] also pointed out that the use of IRT is a valuable tool for building diagnostics. It can be used for inspecting and performing non-destructive testing of building elements in order to detect where and how energy is leaking from the envelope of the building, to evaluate operation conditions of HVAC systems, and to identify problems with electrical and mechanical installations. Taylor *et al.* [76] added that IRT can be used as a qualitative tool during the different stages of the construction process to improve the final thermal performance of the building envelope.

The IRT is a technique widely used in building construction because it allows the measurement of surface characteristics involving all possible heat transfer phenomena [77]. The basic principle of IRT is that all objects emit thermal radiation, which depends on their temperature and emissivity. Emissivity comes from the relation between the energy emitted by the surface of an object and the energy of a black body (the ideal, perfect emitter). IRT allows to capture and analyze the IR radiation from an object, with or without illumination. Still, since the amount of radiation emitted by an object increases with (the fourth power of) the surface temperature, IRT allows perceiving the spatial temperature distribution. Table 7 summarizes the main advantages and disadvantages of this technique.

The IR cameras capture the radiation emitted by the surface converting it into electrical signals, and then creating an image with the distribution of the surface temperatures of the bodies, by applying the Stefan-Boltzmann law [78]. Although the image shows an approximation of the temperature at which the object is operating, the camera is actually using various data sources based on the areas surrounding the object to determine that value instead of detecting the actual temperature [79]. Figure 6 presents an example of the application of this technique in the inspection of buildings (note that the heat flux through the wall is the result of thermal stimulation by artificial sources – a hot chamber). Figures 6a and 6b show, respectively, a digital photograph and an IRT image with the temperature distribution of the outer surface of an LSF wall with an external thermal insulation composite system (ETICS). By analyzing the IRT image, it is possible to identify the location of the plastic wall plugs of the ETICS system. In fact, as suggested by O'Grady et al. [80], the IRT can be very helpful to define the correct locations for HFM sensors, since these sensors must be located in a place without any inhomogeneities or defects that may lead to incorrect results of the overall U-value of the construction element. Other authors have used IRT as a qualitative tool to select the right place for the location of HFM sensors, such as Asdrubali et al. [81], Evangelisti et al. [82] and Asdrubali et al. [83].

Advantages	Drawbacks
- Non-destructive method [84];	- Very high price for the equipment [89];
- Large number of applications [77];	- Qualified person to analyze the results [89] and to
- It can be used as support to justify the choice of the	operate the IR camera;
measurement zones [85];	- Highly dependent on climatic conditions [86];
- Requires no direct contact with the element and can be used over long distances [74][86];	- Pollution and smokes with high emissivity may influence the results [75];
- Lightweight and easy to carry equipment [86];	- Misreading information is taken by the camera
- Allows to evaluate extensive areas in a short period, and in real time [79];	when temperatures have very close range [79].
- Allows to determine the overall transmittance of an envelope in a short time especially in comparison with HFM method [87];	
- It is not a punctual measurement (it considers all the surfaces of the element) [88];	
- It is able to detect several pathologies of the element [79];	
- The IRT camera may calibrates automatically.	



Figure 6 – Outer surface of a LSF wall with ETICS: a) digital photograph; b) IRT image.

Table 8 presents the primary standards that contain the necessary procedures that should be considered, to render a correct use of the IRT methodology, matching the contents of the ASTM and ISO standards. It should be remarked that a new standard, ISO 9869-2 [90], is under development concerning the *in-situ* measurement of the thermal transmittance of frame structures by means of the IRT technique.

ASTM	ISO
Principles for the use of the method a	nd calculation of thermal properties
	- ISO/FDIS 9869-2 [90] (under development), "Thermal insulation - Building elements - In-situ measurement of thermal resistance and thermal transmittance - Part 2: Infrared method for frame structure dwelling".
Detecting thermal irregular	rities in building envelopes
- ASTM C1060-11a (2015) [91], "Standard practice for thermographic inspection of insulation installations in envelope cavities of frame buildings".	- ISO 6781:1983 [92], "Thermal insulation - Qualitative detection of thermal irregularities in building envelopes - Infrared method".
Non-destructive te	sting terminology
- ASTM E1316-17a (2017) [93], "Standard terminology for non-destructive examinations".	- ISO 10878:2013 [94], "Non-destructive testing - Infrared thermography – Vocabulary".
General principles	
	- ISO 10880:2017 [95], "Non-destructive testing - Infrared thermographic testing - General principles".
Determination of the minimum resolvable	e and detectable temperature differences
 ASTM E1213-14 (2014) [96], "Standard practice for minimum resolvable temperature difference for thermal imaging systems". ASTM E1311-14 (2014) [97], "Standard practice for minimum detectable temperature difference for thermal imaging systems". 	
System and equipment components and their characteristics	
	- ISO 18251-1:2017 [98], "Non-destructive testing - Infrared thermography - Part 1: Characteristics of system and equipment".
Procedures for measuring and compensating for reflected temperature and emissivity	
- ASTM E1862-14 (2014) [99], "Standard practice for measuring and compensating for reflected temperature using infrared imaging radiometers".	
- ASTM E1933-14 (2014) [100], "Standard practice for measuring and compensating for emissivity using	

Table 8 – Main standards in the field of IRT technique.

Albatici and Tonelli [101] proposed an alternative methodology for the *in-situ* estimation of the *U*-value of opaque construction elements by means of IR thermovision. The authors stated that the proposed methodology can only be used during winter. Because of the difference between the estimated and the theoretical *U*-values, the authors suggested further research on several case studies to establish an average correlation between the results of the measurements and the theoretical values obtained from technical standards. To provide a robust procedure for the use of quantitative thermography and to validate this *in-situ* methodology, Albatici *et al.* [102] performed a parametric study on the thermal performance of different light- and heavy-weight walls for over three years. The authors defined some parameters of significance for the results accuracy, evaluated the influence of weather

infrared imaging radiometers".

conditions on the results, and provided a comparison between values achieved through IR thermovision, international standards approach and HFM method. The methodology provides good results for heavyweight construction, while further studies are needed for lightweight and super-insulated walls. In fact, the U-values measured for heavyweight walls showed absolute deviations of 8-20% and 10-18%, compared to the ones given by the HFM method and the standards approach, respectively. Nardi et al. [103] tested the previous methodology in a controlled environment provided by the GHB apparatus. The U-value of a large heavyweight sample-wall was determined by means of IRT, HFM method, and standardsbased calculation. The IRT results show good agreement with the results of the other two approaches. Particularly, the difference between the results obtained from the IRT and the HFM methods was about 3.2-12.9%. Tejedor et al. [104] proposed a method for determining in-situ U-values using quantitative IRT with a deviation of 1-2% for single-leaf walls and 3-4% for multi-leaf walls. This method takes 2-3 hours, which is a great advantage in comparison to the typical 72 hours required for the execution of the HFM method in steadystate conditions. O'Grady et al. [105] evaluated the application of the quantitative IRT technique to evaluate the heat lost via multiple thermal bridges and windows. The methodology was validated against experimental measurements carried out in a HB device. Bianchi et al. [106] also proposed an IRT quantitative methodology to assess building envelope thermal losses due to thermal bridges, and Asdrubali et al. [78] proposed a methodology to perform a quantitative analysis of some sorts of thermal bridges through simple thermographic surveys and subsequent analytical processing. The IRT was also used by Ascione et al. [107] as part of an experimental apparatus to evaluate thermal bridging effects under dynamic conditions. In fact, the evaluation of the multidimensional and dynamic aspects of thermal bridges is very challenging and it should not be neglected when performing dynamic simulations using building energy simulation programs [108].

In another study, Nardi *et al.* [87] performed *in-situ* measurements based on the HFM and IRT methodologies to evaluate the thermal performance of three different walls (historical stone masonry, heavyweight wall made of hollow brick and concrete blocks, and lightweight wall made of cement-wood brick insulated by the interior) in real environment conditions. The results showed good agreement between the *U*-value obtained from the HFM and IRT methods for the heavyweight walls (up to 2.56%). For the lightweight wall, a discrepancy of about 47.62% was recorded.

Fokaides *et al.* [77] used IRT to estimate the overall thermal transmittance of different building envelope elements (wall, roof, glazing) in five dwellings within two seasons, during August 2009 and February 2010. According to these authors, the *U*-value can be determined

by using Eq. (1), where: ε_v is the wall spectral emissivity; σ is the Stefan–Bolzmann constant [W/m²K⁴]; $T_{s,out}$ is the outer surface temperature [K]; T_{out} is the outdoor ambient temperature [K]; v is the wind speed [m/s]; and T_{int} is the indoor ambient temperature [K].

$$U = \frac{\varepsilon_{\nu}\sigma(T_{s,out}^{4} - T_{out}^{4}) + 3.8054\nu(T_{s,out} - T_{out})}{T_{int} - T_{out}}$$
(1)

All parameters can be measured using the same IRT camera to minimize systematic measurement errors (except for v, which must be measured by means of an anemometer). The value of emissivity must be measured because it depends not only on the surface materials, but also on actual surface conditions that suffer from pollution, moisture, etc.. The measurement of the ε -value can be achieved by two methods: comparison with a reference material (*e.g.*, special adhesive tapes with known emissivity) or direct measurement of the reflected brightness of the material. The absolute percentage deviations between the theoretical prediction and the measured *U*-values using IRT were found to be at an acceptable level, in the range of 10-20%.

Aversa et al. [109] proposed an innovative experimental procedure to investigate the thermal dynamic behavior of two prototype walls (an empty wall and a hemp fiber-filled wall) in terms of decrement factor and time lag. For the correct implementation of the method, it is necessary to ensure: (i) thermal stimulation by means of a heat source, focused in the centre of the wall of the prototype; (ii) conditioning of the test room over the duration of the test to ensure a constant indoor temperature; (iii) application of a periodic square wave signal for three cycles – for this purpose, lamps were turned on for 4 hours and turned off for another 4 hours (the total duration of the wall stimulation was 24 hours); (iv) simultaneous acquisition on the two wall surfaces, through two infrared cameras; (v) analysis of the thermographic data. The results were compared with those obtained with a numerical simulation and standard procedures. Comparing the experimental and the numerical simulation results, some minor differences were found, demonstrating a best result for the simulation with respect to measurements (lower decrement factor and higher time lag). On the other hand, very different results were obtained using EN ISO 13786, with respect to those obtained with experimental and numerical approaches. Output parameters of the new procedure are the same of standard one, but they were obtained with a different set-up. All the results related to the three approaches showed an improving in the thermal dynamic behavior of the fiber-filled wall, with respect to the empty one (lower decrement factor and higher time lag).

3. Evaluation of the thermal performance of different types of construction elements

3.1. Heavyweight construction

3.1.1. In-situ measurements

The *in-situ* measurement of the overall thermal transmittance of heavyweight walls has been investigated by several researchers to support energy audit and to characterize the thermal performance of existing walls. Heavyweight construction uses heavy materials such as reinforced concrete, concrete masonry, stone or brick. The development of *in-situ* surveys for characterizing the main thermophysical properties of materials and construction elements is also very important for the development of multidisciplinary approaches to assess the overall thermal performance of existing buildings [110]. As suggested by Rye and Scott [111], the *U*-value of existing walls is typically overestimated (up to 77%) by software-based calculation, underestimating the thermal performance of the walls. This inaccurate estimation of the thermal properties of the construction elements can impact the prediction of the energy demand for air conditioning of real buildings [112]. As reported by Byrne *et al.* [113], the incorrect estimation of the thermal resistance of existing building envelopes can also compromise the estimation of the impact of energy saving strategies and retrofitting actions. The most used non-destructive methodologies for the *in-situ* assessment of the thermal performance of existing heavyweight walls are the HFM method and the IRT technique.

Several studies were dedicated to the assessment of the thermal performance of existing and historic building elements [6][111][114][115][116][117]. Lucchi [114] investigated the thermal transmittance of historical traditional stone masonries, characterized by different heritage values, historical ages and intended use. The experimental results, based on HFM measurements, were compared to the *U*-value of the walls calculated from standard procedures. The author explains that the most important challenges for the *in-situ* assessment of the thermal performance of existing stone walls are related to the correct definition of the wall morphology and thickness, the prediction of the thermal properties of stone elements and accounting for the existence of air voids and gaps. It was concluded that historical stone masonries have a better thermal performance than the one expected from the standard calculations. In another study, Lucchi [6] evaluated the overall thermal transmittance of historical brick masonries, providing a comparison between standard data, analytical calculation procedures and *in-situ* HFM measurements. The main goal of this study was to provide a guidance for energy audit, simulation, and labeling of historic buildings. The author

performance of historic brick masonries. Doran [118] also carried out *in-situ* measurements to determine the *U*-value of building elements and to evaluate how the experimental results can be compared with predicted performance, as calculated using the methods described in the relevant standards. The results showed that, in a number of cases, the measured *U*-values were greater than the *U*-values obtained by calculation. Moreover, the author pointed out that some existing calculation procedures used for regulatory purposes may often underestimate the true heat losses for walls, in some cases by more than 30%.

Meng *et al.* [119] evaluated the *U*-value of different non-homogeneous block walls (including mortar joints, insulation layers and cement plaster) using the HFM method. The authors concluded that the location of thermocouples and heat flow meters, the size, shape and angle of the heat flow meters can affect the accuracy of the results. For example, the results showed that the measurement errors can be up to 6% and 26% when thermocouples and heat flow meters are improperly placed, respectively. Other works have reported that the accuracy, error and uncertainty of the results achieved using the HFM method can be affected by practical issues (for example the measurement locations), and by temperature fluctuations and small temperature difference between the interior and exterior environments [20][112][120][121][122]; so the tests must be performed during the heating period (winter), to ensure the largest temperature difference. To overcome outdoor and indoor thermal environment limitation of the HFM method and to avoid the heavy equipment of the HB, Meng *et al.* [19] proposed a new simple HB - HFM method for *in-situ* measurements (Figure 7).

Sassine [1] believes that in addition to the experimental evaluation of the thermal resistance of an existing wall, the thermal capacitance of the wall must be quantified, as this is an important parameter for dynamic modeling. The author proposed a fast method for the *insitu* thermal characterization of walls based on complex Fourier analysis to determine the thermal capacitance and the thermal conductivity of different elements, using the measured inner and outer surface temperatures of the walls and the outer heat flux. The method does not require any imposition of particular boundary conditions and it provides satisfactory and accurate results. The author believes that this method can serve energy audit purposes, as the main thermal properties of the walls can be determined without resorting to personal estimates and assumptions often leading to erroneous studies [1]. Another feature to have in mind when estimating the thermal transmittance on existing walls (when only air and surface temperatures probes are used) is the value of the convective heat transfer coefficients. These values are typically obtained by applying the correlations available in literature, or constant standard values, which can be insufficient for some cases. Evangelisti *et al.* [123] carried out

a study to assess the influence of different convective and radiative heat transfer coefficient expressions on the measurement of the thermal transmittance. The authors concluded that the accurate estimation of the convective heat transfer coefficients is crucial for the right quantification of the overall *U*-value of existing walls and that the standard values are not necessarily representative of real heat transfers between environment and walls.



Figure 7 – Sketch of the simple HB - HFM method proposed by Meng *et al.* [19] for the *in-situ* measurement of walls thermal transmittance. Figure adapted from ref. [19].

Baldinelli [124] carried out an experimental study based on a single construction setup with a movable wall to define the stationary and dynamic thermal properties of low-e insulators installed on vertical hollow brick walls under real outdoor conditions (Figure 8). The fixed envelope of the parallelepiped setup was built with a high insulation level and the temperature inside the room was kept constant by an electrical heat pump. The tested walls were instrumented in accordance with the ISO 9869 requirements: two heat flow meters and nine thermocouples on the inner side and nine thermocouples on the outer side, all distributed over a central square of 0.5 m wide. As described by the author, the tested low-e material consists of two layers of bubble polyethylene and two layers of low-emissivity aluminum film, continuously thermowelded to have two faces made of low-e material [124]. Figure 8 summarizes the methodology proposed by the author. The steady-state results were compared to those obtained by using other methods such as the GHP, the HB method and the theoretical analysis, showing a good agreement among the different approaches. The dynamic results allowed to directly define the contribution of the low-e panel *in-situ*.



Figure 8 – Methodology proposed by Baldinelli [124] for the evaluation of the thermal properties of low-e barriers. Figure adapted from ref. [124].

Several studies have used IRT technique for the qualitative evaluation of existing walls [75][125] in order to assess their morphology [114], to find the presence of non-homogeneities, thermal bridges, and damage (such as decay, cracks, etc.) [126], for moisture detection and hygrothermal performance evaluation [127], to evaluate the thermal behavior of the building [128], to assess the impact of retrofitting actions [113], and to identify the best position for the placement of HFM sensors [82]. Kordatos *et al.* [129] have also used IRT to evaluate the degradation of murals in historic monuments. Moropoulou *et al.* [125] provided a review on the main non-destructive techniques, including IRT measurements, which can be used as tools for the thermal characterization of existing walls, allowing the protection of the built cultural heritage. Balaras and Argiriou [75] reviewed the use of IRT for building diagnostics with an emphasis on how it can be implemented to support office building audit following the TOBUS methodology [130]. Further studies have proposed *in-situ* methodologies for quantifying the overall thermal transmittance of building elements using IRT technique [77][101][126][131][132][133]. Some of these studies also show that IRT can support the HFM measurements concerning the qualitative analysis of the building elements.

3.1.2. Laboratory measurements

Measurements in controlled environmental laboratory conditions are typically used to provide reliable results for validating numerical approaches. They can also be used to validate *in-situ* methodologies to characterize the thermal performance of construction elements. The most

used methods in laboratory are based on the HB fundamentals. Many times, the tests in the HB are combined with HFM and IRT measurements.

Martín et al. [134] proposed a dynamic testing method inside a GHB apparatus to determine the response factors of a perforated clay blocks wall (Figure 9), without knowing the properties of the materials of the wall. The response factors approach is one of the methods to solve the Fourier equation based on the approximation of the loads, which main advantage is its simplicity. However, it may require a large number of factors to achieve accurate results. As shown in Figure 9, the authors started to carry out tests in steady-state regime to evaluate the thermal resistance and the thermal transmittance of the wall. Then, tests in dynamic regime were performed in the GHB apparatus to obtain the response factors of the wall. The method was then validated using a finite-volume simulation code. The results showed that the errors in the prediction of the U-value by adding the response factors are higher for the experiments (up to 9.5%) than for the numerical analysis (up to 0.5%). However, the results showed that the method can be a good approach, when the thermal properties of the different materials employed in the construction solution are not known a priori. The authors highlighted that the methodology was tested only for walls with low thermal resistance and medium inertia. Therefore, more tests should be performed to extend the methodology to other sorts of walls. In another study, Sala et al. [135] used the same GHB apparatus to perform static and dynamic tests for the thermal characterization of a L200 \times H200 cm wall of three layers: a 1 cm-thick gypsum layer on the inner side, a hollow brick layer of 4 cm, and a 3 cm insulation layer on the outer side. A numerical study was also carried out to obtain the thermal performance of the wall in stationary and dynamic conditions. The main goal of these authors was to evaluate the error introduced by assuming an heterogeneous layer of the wall as an equivalent homogeneous layer. The results showed that the errors can be significant, even when the heterogeneities are not excessive. Finally, Martin et al. [136] used the GHB apparatus of the previous studies to evaluate the behavior of a reinforced concrete pillar thermal bridge in both steady-state and dynamic conditions. The authors remarked that there is a great uncertainty about the dynamic behavior of thermal bridges. In fact, this research gap was also pointed out by Ascione et al. [137]. In this context, O'Grady et al. [80] proposed a new non-invasive and easy-to-use IRT methodology for the *in-situ* assessment of the heat loss through a thermal bridge – a concrete column in a brick wall. The methodology was tested under laboratory steady-state conditions in a HB apparatus. More studies have used GHB measurements to evaluate the thermal performance of different construction elements, e.g., block and brick cavity walls with variable aspect ratio of the cavity [138], and lime/cement stabilized hollow and plain earth blocks [139].



Figure 9 – Methodology proposed by Martín *et al.* [134] for the thermal characterization of low thermal resistance and medium inertia walls under steady-state and dynamic conditions using the GHB apparatus. Figure adapted from ref. [134].

Kus et al. [140] evaluated the hygrothermal performance of a pumice aggregate concrete hollow blocks wall (L120 \times H240 \times W19 cm) using a CHB apparatus. The authors concluded that the heterogeneous nature and the rough surface characteristics of the blocks, plus the wet construction type of block, are the most problematic features that make measurements and evaluation difficult. Özdeniz [141] investigated the hygrothermal behavior of new briquette (concrete block with pumice as aggregate) walls, both theoretically and experimentally. The proposed briquette wall employs the ventilated cavity wall principle. HB measurements were conducted on different assemblies of both newly-designed and regular briquette walls. The author concluded that the perlite filled pumice concrete briquette wall has the best performance, among the tested walls. As stated by Thorsell and Bomberg [142], hygrothermal models are very important to evaluate the effects of climate, moisture and air movement on the thermal performance of assemblies. However, in another study [143], the authors added that experimental tests are typically performed on dry materials, without considering the air and moisture movements, which can mishmash the results achieved from experimental and numerical models. In this context, the authors proposed an integrated methodology that combines CHB measurements and computer simulation to evaluate the thermal performance of different walls considering the features listed above [142][143].

Further studies to assess the thermal performance of hollow concrete blocks [144] and perforated porous clay bricks [145] walls were carried out, in which CHB measurements were used to validate numerical models. Jeong *et al.* [146] have also used CHB tests to evaluate the thermal transmittance of large-scale thermally-enhanced concrete specimens (L150 \times H150 \times W22 cm).

Donatelli et al. [147] developed an experimental procedure based on IRT measurements for the evaluation of the thermal transmittance of opaque construction elements. The main goal of this study was to provide an alternative solution to the HFM method in order to overcome some restrictions of the method, such as the long measuring periods, the dependence on weather conditions and the great difference between internal and external surface temperatures of the tested walls. The proposed IRT method was applied on two lab-made hollow brick based walls (L100 \times H100 \times W10 cm). The results showed discrepancies with theoretical U-values determined in accordance with the ISO 6946 standard procedure of about -3.5 to 2.9%. Nardi et al. [148] presented an up to date survey on quantitative IRT approaches for the assessment of the U-value of opaque construction elements. The authors have also carried out a quantitative IRT study to assess the validity of four different IRT methods by applying different operative conditions in a GHB controlled environment. The methods proposed by Madding [149], Fokaides and Kalogirou [77], Dall'O' et al. [150] and Albatici et al. [102] were compared in the study, considering a multilayered wall (L300 \times H300 \times W28 cm) built to reproduce a typical external envelope of the 1970s Italian building stock. The IRT based results were then compared with the ones obtained by HFM measurements and theoretical calculations. Simões et al. [151] also compared three different IRT methods to evaluate the U-value of four homogeneous building elements (medium-density fiberboard, extruded polystyrene, natural cork, and cement bonded particle board): the methods proposed by Fokaides and Kalogirou [77], Albaciti and Tonelli [101] and Vollmer and Möllmann [152]. According to this work, the method that provides the most reliable results is the one proposed by Fokaides and Kalogirou [77].

Ruuska *et al.* [153] carried out a study to determine the thermal conductivity and the specific heat capacity of two concrete types, and the specific heat capacity of 14 plasters, through the HFM method. The FOX 50 HFM (by LaserComp, Inc) that runs on WinTherm50 software was used for the measurements. It should be remarked that the specimen size of this particular apparatus is pretty small, from 50 to 61 mm in diameter and 0-25 mm thick [153]. The results achieved were in accordance with published values and theory, which shows that this HFM apparatus can be used to determine the specific heat capacity of inhomogeneous materials. The authors also recommended that the best way to measure the thermal

conductivity of inhomogeneous materials is to use both rubber sheets and thermocouples because it is a good way to eliminate errors caused by air caps and poor contact between the surfaces of the specimens and the apparatus's plates.

Manzan *et al.* [154][155] developed a combined experimental and numerical approach to evaluate the thermal performance of different interior-side insulation methodologies that can be used for the refurbishment of historical buildings. The authors concluded that the effect of structural elements employed to fix the insulation layers to existing walls must be considered when evaluating the thermal conductance of the wall, mainly when these elements are made of steel.

3.2. Lightweight construction - LSF assemblies

Generally speaking, LSF is a dry construction system consisting of three main types of materials that are used in walls and slabs: cold-formed steel studs for load bearing, interior and exterior sheathing panels and insulation materials. Soares *et al.* [156] provided an extensive review on this type of construction, pointing out the main features related with its energy efficiency and thermal performance. Regarding thermal behavior, LSF elements are typically classified according to the location of the thermal insulation layers as cold frame (the thermal insulation is placed inside the wall between the steel studs), hybrid (the thermal insulation is distributed between the external surface and the wall gap between steel studs), and warm frame construction (all thermal insulation is placed outside the steel framing on the external surface).

As suggested by Soares *et al.* [156], LSF construction can play an important role in the development of a more sustainable built environment as it shows great potential for recycling and reuse, lower water consumption, high architectural flexibility for retrofitting purposes, high seismic performance, easy prefabrication allowing modular construction, small weight, economy in transportation and handling, reduced disruption onsite and speed of construction. However, the high thermal conductivity of the metal structure can lead to significant thermal bridges, which can affect the thermal performance of LSF assemblies. Moreover, the steel skeleton crossing insulation layers make the prediction of the thermal performance of the LSF assemblies difficult during the design phase and during the dynamic simulation of the energy in buildings. In addition, the *in-situ* measurement of the overall thermal transmittance of LSF walls is very challenging due to the presence of non-homogeneous layers and thermal bridges. However, the *in-situ* characterization is very important for the post-evaluation of the thermal performance of LSF assemblies, and for energy audit. At this point, it should be reminded that the existing standardized methods described in standards ISO 9869-1 [17] and ASTM C1155

[22] for the *in-situ* measurement of the overall thermal transmittance of construction elements only concern homogeneous walls. In fact, a standardized method for the *in-situ* measurement of the *U*-value of existing LSF walls is still missing. Regarding laboratory conditions, the ISO 8990 [52] and the ASTM C1363 [56] can be used for the experimental assessment of the overall thermal transmittance of LSF walls using the HB apparatus. For the calculation of the overall thermal transmittance of construction elements, the ISO 6946 [8] is only applicable for construction elements with thermally homogeneous layers. In fact, this analytical method is not applicable for many LSF elements (other than full warm frame construction) in which insulation layers are bridged by metallic elements. In recent years, many studies have been carried out in the scope of the experimental calculation of the *U*-value of LSF walls in laboratory conditions combined with analytical and numerical simulations. Few studies were however devoted to the development of new *in-situ* measurements.

One of the first methods to determine the theoretical *U*-value of walls with coldformed steel profiles was the ASHRAE *zone method* [157]. This method allows calculating the *R*-value of walls with cross-section high thermal conductivity elements (such as steel profiles). This methodology is a modification of the *parallel path method*, in which the wall is divided into several parallel paths with different thermal resistances. However, the ASHRAE *zone method* can only be applied to walls and slabs with metallic profiles assembled in one direction, and it cannot be applied in situations where steel profiles are perpendicular to each other. Based on the ASHRAE *zone method*, Kosny *et al.* [158] developed the *modified zone method* for metal stud walls with insulated cavities, which differs from the previous approach in the way that the zone of influence of the metal stud thermal bridging is estimated, leading to more reliable results. In the *modified zone method*, the zone width depends on the following three parameters: the ratio between the thermal resistivity of sheathing material and cavity insulation, the size (depth) of the stud, and the thickness of the sheathing material.

Gorgolewski [159] suggested a simplified method to estimate the theoretical U-value of cold and hybrid LSF assemblies. This method is an adaptation of the approach established in ISO 6946 [8] that includes various additional parameters (*e.g.*, flange width, stud spacing and depth) to account for the overall thermal behavior of the steel-framed element. As shown by the author, with this method, the mean error of prediction (compared with finite-element numerical modeling) is less than 3% with a maximum error of 8% for a range of 52 constructions assessed [159]. Additional details about this method can be found in ref. [160], including some examples regarding the calculation of U-values of hybrid and cold frame LSF assemblies. The methodology proposed by Gorgolewski [159] was used in several studies to estimate the thermal behavior of LSF assemblies, which is required to evaluate the overall

thermal behavior of LSF buildings [4][161]. For example, Soares *et al.* [161] proposed a multi-dimensional optimization model combining EnergyPlus and GenOpt tools for the annual optimization of the incorporation of PCM-drywalls in air-conditioned LSF residential buildings in different European climates. In another study, Rodrigues *et al.* [4] proposed an integrated energy performance-driven generative design methodology to foster modular LSF residential buildings in hot climates.

Many research works have been carried out to find some ways to reduce or avoid thermal bridges in LSF buildings, and to improve the thermal performance of LSF assemblies. In this context, the following design strategies can be listed according to refs. [156][162][163]: (i) keeping the facade geometry as simple as possible; (ii) avoiding interruption of the insulation layer and placing a continuous insulation layer on the external side of the steel framing; (iii) using materials with the lowest thermal conductivity possible where the interruption of the insulation layer is unavoidable; (iv) attaching the studs to the external insulation layer using fixings with low thermal conductivity; (v) attaching the insulation layers to the overall width, at the joints of building elements; (vi) installing doors and windows in contact with the insulation layer. Martins et al. [24] studied several strategies for the mitigation of thermal bridges and they presented the following guidelines: (i) introducing at least one-third of continuous thermal insulation; (ii) if the previous condition is verified, then some mitigation strategies could be very much reduced or even irrelevant (e.g., male or female studs, thin rubber strips, fixing bolts instead of steel plate connections and slotted steel profiles); (iii) when selecting or designing thermal profiles, choose the ones with higher number of narrow slots since they are more efficient than the ones with larger slots; (iv) whenever possible, try to use two layers of perpendicular steel studs, avoiding trespassing the entire wall cross-section with two parallel steel profiles. Kosny and Christian [164] also showed that the use of continuous external thermal insulation is an efficient way to improve the thermal performance of LSF walls. Moreover, they showed that increasing the space between the steel profiles allows increasing the thermal resistance of the walls. Höglund and Burstrand [165] studied an efficient way to reduce the heat flux through the wall by increasing the heat flux path and decreasing the area of the steel profile (by inserting grooves in the profile web). A similar study was carried out by Blomberg and Claesson [166], who have also concluded that one of the most effective strategies to reduce heat flux is to use perforated steel profiles. The study showed that: (i) the thickness of a standard steel profile has to decrease sixfold to achieve the equivalent thermal properties of a metal profile with slots; (*ii*) the heat flux through a steel profile decreases as the number of slots increases.

Zalewski et al. [167] proposed a 3D numerical method for the assessment of the effect of thermal bridges in prefabricated lightweight building walls with a steel framework. The numerical method was validated using experimental results carried out in a controlled laboratory environment as shown in Figure 10. In the first part of the study, the authors used IRT for the qualitative assessment of the thermal behavior of the sample, *i.e.*, to visualize thermal bridges. Then, surface temperature measurements with thermocouples were compared with those provided by IRT to evaluate the evolution of the outside surface temperature during the experiment. In the second part of the study the authors used local and nondestructive heat flux measurements to show the importance of thermal bridges in the thermal performance of the wall. At the end, the experimental results were used to validate the simulation model. Kosny et al. [158] used the CHB apparatus to measure the thermal performance of 23 steel-framed wall samples, considering a set of stud frame configurations, insulation sheathing and fiberglass batt insulations. The experimental results were compared to the *R*-value estimated using the *parallel path method*, the *isothermal planes method* and the ASHRAE *zone method*, showing that these methods do not fully account for the 3D effects created by steel framing, often underestimating the *R*-value of the walls when insulation sheathing is used. Mayer et al. [168] used the GHB apparatus to evaluate the thermal performance of different wall assemblies and to provide experimental results to validate a developed 3D finite-element analysis thermal modeling approach. Other studies that have highlighted the potential of the GHB apparatus to estimate the overall thermal transmittance of LSF assemblies can be found in literature, for instance, the works carried out by Soret et al. [169] and Amundarain [170]. The IRT method described by O'Grady et al. [80] can also be used for the U-value measurement of LSF walls.

In a recent paper, Atsonios *et al.* [171] have proposed two new methods for the *in-situ* measurement of the overall thermal transmittance of existing cold frame LSF walls, which take into account the effect of thermal bridging due to the metal structure: the *representative points method* (*RPM*) and the *weighted area method* (*WAM*). The first method considers that the heat flow on specific points at the internal surface of the wall is always equal to the averaged heat flow of the whole surface. The *WAM* method is based on the *zone method* concept. According to the authors, the two methods comprise five general steps: (*i*) IRT of the internal surface of the wall; (*ii*) assessment of IR images to estimate the temperature profile; (*iii*) analysis of temperature profile according to each method; (*iv*) recording of outdoor/indoor air temperature and heat flux values at the locations which are indicated by each method; and (*v*) calculation of the overall thermal transmittance of the wall. The methods were numerically validated for both cold frame and hybrid LSF walls, and experimentally

validated on a well-known cold frame LSF wall. The numerical results showed that the methods can be applied to both typologies of LSF walls. Moreover, the results based on the *in-situ* measurements were in good agreement with the theoretical results obtained according to ISO 10211 [9].



Figure 10 – Methodology proposed by Zalewski *et al.* [167] for the experimental and numerical characterization of thermal bridges in a prefabricated lightweight building wall with a steel framework. Figure adapted from ref. [167].

Yao *et al.* [172] carried out an experimental and numerical study to evaluate the thermal performance of a lightweight steel-bamboo wall. A testing room was built using this new LSF assembly and *in-situ* measurements were performed to determine the heat transfer coefficient, time lag and decrement factor of the wall. The behavior of two commonly used walls was taken for comparison purposes: a reinforced concrete wall and an aerated concrete blocks wall. The experimental apparatus was a combination of the HFM and HB methods, in

order to take advantage of the two methods and to overcome some of their drawbacks – the HFM should not be used in summer conditions; dynamic data analysis requires long-period measurements and complex calculations; the HB procedure is not suitable for in field measurements. Surface temperature sensors and heat flow meters were used to record internal and external surface temperatures and the average heat flux through the wall. These values were then used to estimate the *U*-value of the wall. The results showed that the steel-bamboo wall has a high thermal performance with an improvement of the *U*-value by up to 26.1-48.4% in comparison to the other two walls.

3.3. New or non-conventional insulation materials

The use of new and more efficient insulation materials can improve the thermal performance of construction elements, dealing with lower thicknesses of the insulation layers [156]. Aerogel insulation blankets may be seen as one of the most promising thermal insulation materials as they have a thermal conductivity 2 to 2.5 times lower than that of conventional mineral wool [173]. Lakatos [174] used different methods for the experimental evaluation of the thermal transmittance of walls with an opaque aerogel insulation layer. A Holometrix type HFM was used to measure the thermal conductivity of insulation materials with different thicknesses. Then, two different steady-state methods were used for measuring the thermal resistance of walls: the calibrated chamber method and heat flux measurements by Hukseflux apparatus. The authors have also used IRT to visualize the impact of adding aerogel. The results showed that by using a 0.013 m thick opaque aerogel insulation layer on a 0.25 m brick wall, the retardation time can be increased from 13 to 17 h. Wakili et al. [175] evaluated the potential of aerogel for retrofitting purposes. The authors carried out in-situ measurement of the U-value of a retrofitted stone wall of a building situated in the city of Zurich, Switzerland, dating from 1877. IRT was also performed during the cold weather period, when there was a large temperature difference between indoor and outdoor environments. The results showed that thin additional insulation layers can be added to the existing external wall to improve the overall thermal performance of the wall without changing the overall appearance of the building. Walker and Pavía [176] evaluated the *in-situ* thermal performance of seven internal insulation alternatives on a historic brick wall with a traditional lime plaster finish, using heat flux sensors for U-value measurement, thermal imaging survey and monitoring of internal wall temperature. The thermal insulation options evaluated were: aerogel, thermal paint, cork lime, hemp lime, calcium silicate board, timber fiber board and PIR board. The results showed that all these internal insulations can be used to reduce the Uvalue of the wall (between 34-61%) with the exception of a thermal paint which had no effect. Aerogel also showed good potential for insulating historic structures as its thickness is almost half the other insulation materials, thus minimizing the adverse visual impact of insulating historic buildings.

Another promising insulation technology is the use of vacuum insulation panels (VIPs), which have a thermal resistance 5 to 8 times higher than other conventional insulation materials [177]. In the study conducted by Wakili et al. [178], the GHP method was used to determine the thermal conductivity at the centre-of-panel and the edge effect, *i.e.*, the linear thermal transmittance due to the thermal conductivity of the barrier envelope. The results showed that VIPs with a low perimeter-to-surface ratio have a lower effective thermal conductivity. Nussbaumer et al. [179] studied the behavior of a system of VIPs embedded in an expanded polystyrene foam forming insulation boards mounted on a concrete wall. The thermal transmittance measurements were carried out using a GHB apparatus and IRT was used as an inspecting tool to recognize damaged VIPs in winter conditions. Capozzoli et al. [180] evaluated the equivalent thermal conductivity of VIPs and their performance degradation caused by vacuum loss. The guarded heat flux meter apparatus was used for the experiments. Baldwin et al. [181] used a GHB apparatus to determine the effective thermal resistance of a wall assembly incorporating VIPs. The authors pointed out that this method allows a more accurate representation of all thermal bridges, including those between panels. Mandilaras et al. [182] carried out a comparative study of conventional and VIP based ETICS utilizing both experimental and theoretical/numerical techniques. A mockup two-storey LSF building located in Athens, Greece, was considered in the experiments. A drywall construction envelope based on a cavity wall system incorporating ETICS was also considered. Two types of ETICS were installed on the walls of the mockup: a conventional system using EPS as insulation material and a VIP system incorporating a composite insulation component consisting of two layers of mineral wool and one layer of VIP. The results showed that the thermal resistance of the VIP wall was 123% higher than the thermal resistance of the EPS wall. They also showed that there was a significant difference between the anticipated and the achieved thermal performance of the VIP ETICS as the in-situ measurements of thermal resistance were considerably lower than expected.

Some non-conventional insulation materials that show low environmental impact can also be found in literature. Mavromatidis *et al.* [183] experimentally evaluated the thermal behavior of two different multilayer fibrous insulations for building applications. A GHB apparatus was used to measure the heat transfer through the samples. Afterwards, the experimental results were used for numerical validation purposes. Ye *et al.* [184] have also used a GHB apparatus to measure the thermal resistance of sheep-wool insulation and woolhemp mixtures, both in the form of bonded insulation batts. Shea *et al.* [185] claimed that the presentation of robust data regarding the main thermal properties of straw bales are very important for the development of projects employing this natural fiber insulation material. The authors carried out an experimental study to evaluate the thermal performance of an innovative prefabricated natural plant fiber building system. The FOX 800 HFM was used to evaluate the thermal conductivity of straw bales of different densities. The thermal transmittance of a prefabricated straw-bale panel was also evaluated using a GHB apparatus. At the end, an IRT survey was undertaken on a prototype straw-bale house to identify thermal anomalies, thermal bridging, air infiltration and other weaknesses in the building fabric.

In a recent paper, Lee *et al.* [186] provided an overall survey on reflective thermal insulation systems with radiant barriers and reflective insulations. The authors stated that although many studies have been carried out on reflective insulation, there are still uncertainties in predicting the correct thermal resistance improvement due to the application of these materials. For these authors, the most commonly used method to measure the thermal resistance value is the GHB apparatus, which can simulate large-scale assemblies that are closer to real conditions. The HFM method can be used to test smaller specimens. Escudero *et al.* [187] carried out an experimental study to evaluate the thermal resistance of radiant barriers for building insulation. The HFM method was used to characterize the insulation layer itself, while the GHB was used to determine the total thermal resistance of a building component including a radiant barrier.

3.4. Window systems

Smith *et al.* [188] used a GHB apparatus to evaluate the thermal performance of secondary glazing as a retrofit alternative for single-glazed windows. The authors evaluated the thermal transmittance of four secondary glazing products: plastic film, magnetically attached plastic sheet, plain and low-e glass. The results showed that the thermal resistance of the windows with secondary glazing was 130 to 290% better than the *R*-value of the base window. Cox-Smith [189] has also proposed a method for measuring the thermal resistance of fenestration products such as windows and doors using a GHB apparatus. Appelfeld and Svendsen [190] carried out tests to determine the thermal transmittance of ventilated windows by using a GHB setup. Basak *et al.* [191] used a GHB facility to measure the overall heat transfer coefficient of different building material samples. The authors evaluated and compared the overall system performances for a fuzzy logic based temperature control scheme in the GHB using three types of test specimens: a single glazing, a double glazing and a plank of extruded polystyrene. It was concluded that the fuzzy logic based temperature strategy was capable of

controlling the temperature of the metering box as well as the guard box with the desired level of accuracy. Klems [192] used a CHB apparatus for measurements on prototype high-performance windows. A calorimetric HB facility proposed by Lechowska *et al.* [193] was used to measure the thermal transmittance of a multi-layer glazing with ultrathin internal glass partitions. Several authors have also used GHB facilities to measure the thermal performance of vacuum glazing systems [194][195][196].

3.5. PCM-enhanced elements

PCMs undergo melting and solidification at a nearly constant temperature, becoming very suitable for thermal management and thermal energy storage applications. As reviewed by Soares et al. [197], a huge number of studies have been developed to improve the thermal performance of building envelope solutions by including PCMs in their configurations. However, the prediction and measurement of the overall thermal transmittance of nonhomogeneous assemblies incorporating PCMs is still very challenging. This is mainly caused by the intrinsic physics of these materials (namely the variation of the main thermophysical properties with temperature), and the non-linear nature of the phenomenon, *i.e.*, the presence of different stages during a complete phase change cycle - solid, liquid and mushy zone phases. The experimental methods to measure the U-value of construction elements are typically based on reaching steady-state conditions. Therefore, the overall thermal transmittance of construction elements with PCMs cannot be measured during phase change processes, as heat is absorbed or released by the PCM (the material acts like an "energy source" or an "energy sink"). It can only be measured somehow when the PCM is completely melted or solidified. At these stages, PCMs can be treated as "normal" materials, with known thermophysical properties. The development of experimental approaches and standard procedures to measure the overall thermal transmittance of real-scale PCM-enhanced elements in conditions similar to those experimented in real buildings is extremely challenging and it can be seen as a hot research area for the next decade.

As pointed out by Cabeza *et al.* [198], the appropriate characterization of the PCM itself is essential to foster the technology, but it is not always possible to carry it out with conventional equipment, mainly due to the size of the samples. In this context, the authors provided an extensive survey on the main unconventional experimental technologies available for the characterization of the main thermophysical properties of PCMs. Dutil *et al.* [199] have also highlighted the importance of the characterization of PCMs for model validation purposes. In addition, they stated that it is unclear whether the measurements of the thermophysical properties of PCMs done on small samples are representative of the

37

macroscopic thermal behavior of the final building application. Several studies have been carried out to evaluate the thermal performance of PCM-enhanced elements by considering different scales of the samples. For instance, a transient GHP method based on heat flux and temperature measurements was used by Lachheb et al. [200] for the experimental assessment of the thermal behavior of a plaster composite containing a microencapsulated PCM. Amaral et al. [201] evaluated the thermal conductivity of rigid polyurethane (RPU) foams, with and without PCMs, based on steady-state and transient methods (Figure 11). Three different approaches were used: the transient plane source approach (small-scale specimen), the guarded hot plate (middle-scale specimen), and the heat flux meter method in a HB setup (large-scale specimen). Shukla et al. [202] proposed a novel dynamic HFM apparatus to measure the dynamic thermal properties of a PCM impregnated gypsum board. The results were later compared to those obtained through differential scanning calorimeter (DSC) measurements. Kosny et al. [203] have also used a dynamic HFM apparatus for the thermal performance analysis of fiber insulations containing bio-based PCMs. Additionally, a HFM apparatus operating in dynamic mode was used by Mandilaras et al. [204] for the determination of the effective heat capacity of PCM-enhanced building components. Finally, Principi and Fioretti [205] carried out an experimental study based on the HFM method to evaluate the improvement of the thermal performance of hollow bricks through the insertion of a PCM inside the enclosures of the bricks. Silva et al. [206] and Vicente and Silva [207] have also experimentally evaluated the thermal behavior of PCM-enhanced brick masonry walls.

Few studies using the HB method for measuring the thermal performance of PCMenhanced assemblies are found in literature. Indeed, further work has to be developed in the future to establish reliable dynamic methods to measure the overall thermal transmittance of non-homogeneous assemblies with PCMs. In literature, there is also a lack of reliable largescale experimental results that can be used for validating numerical simulation approaches. Figure 12 shows a sketch of the methodology proposed by Cao *et al.* [208] to evaluate the impact of a PCM-enhanced wall on the indoor air and wall temperature using the GHB apparatus. The results showed that the inclusion of the PCM layer in the wall reduces the interior air and wall temperatures up to 2 °C in comparison to the wall without PCM.



Figure 11 – Methodology proposed by Amaral *et al.* [201] for the experimental evaluation of the thermal conductivity of RPU foams with and without the incorporation of PCMs based on steady-state and transient methods. Figure adapted from ref. [201].



Figure 12 – Methodology proposed by Cao *et al.* [208] to evaluate the impact of a PCM-enhanced wall on the indoor air and wall temperature using the GHB apparatus. Figure adapted from ref. [208].

4. CONCLUSIONS

This paper provides an extensive survey on the main methods to measure the overall thermal transmittance and the thermal behavior of non-homogeneous and moderately-homogeneous walls, windows and construction elements with innovative materials, considering laboratory conditions and *in-situ* non-destructive measurements. The following established methods

were reviewed: the heat flow meter (HFM); the guarded hot plate (GHP); the hot box (HB), considering the guarded HB (GHB) and the calibrated HB (CHB); and the infrared thermography (IRT). In the first part of the paper, a standards-based framework was provided, and the main advantages and drawbacks of the listed methods were described. In the second part, previous studies dedicated to the assessment of the thermal performance of different construction elements (heavyweight construction systems, LSF assemblies, new insulation materials, window systems and PCM-enhanced elements) were discussed. The presented studies have used some of the methods listed above, individually or in combination with each other. In fact, in many studies, some methods were considered together in order to perform comparison analyses between results obtained by different experimental methodologies and to compare experimental measurements with standard and analytical procedures. The main conclusions of this review article are:

- The right estimation of the *U*-value of building elements can support decision making during design, construction, energy audit and refurbishment processes;
- The *in-situ* characterization of the *U*-value of construction elements using quantitative IRT is an active area of research, but further research is required to quantify the influence of several parameters on the thermal performance analysis, such as emissivity, surface heat transfer coefficients, air velocity, the presence of thermal bridges and materials with different thermophysical properties, etc., in a way that this technique can be used for all sorts of construction elements (*e.g.*, historic masonries, LSF elements, high-insulated walls, PCM-enhanced elements, etc.). Moreover, the majority of studies found in literature refers to homogeneous or moderately-homogeneous walls, and more research should be carried out to provide reliable methodologies that use quantitative IRT for the measurement of the thermal transmittance of non-homogeneous construction elements. In the meanwhile, qualitative IRT can support the HFM measurements concerning the qualitative assessment of the building elements.
- The *in-situ* measurement of the overall thermal transmittance of LSF walls, including the effect of thermal bridging due to metal structure, is very important for designers, engineers and energy audit. However, there is still a great uncertainty about the dynamic behavior of thermal bridges and further efforts should be devoted to develop new methodologies for the laboratory and *in-situ* measurement of the influence of thermal bridges in the overall thermal transmittance of building envelop elements. The

experimental approaches can then be used to provide reliable experimental results for numerical simulation validation purposes;

- More studies should be carried out for the development of new experimental approaches for the accurate estimation of the convective and radiative heat transfer components in thermal transmittance measurements, mainly when only air and surface temperature probes are used;
- More controlled experimental studies should be developed to evaluate the hygrothermal performance of building elements considering the effects of climate, moisture and air movement on the thermal performance of assemblies. The results of these studies can then be used for validating numerical approaches;
- The *in-situ* characterization of the overall thermal transmittance of historic masonries can provide important information for energy audit and for setting reliable databases on thermal performance of traditional masonries;
- The development of full-scale experimental apparatus to evaluate the overall thermal transmittance of new insulation materials is very important to foster new technologies and to provide reliable experimental results for numerical simulation validation purposes;
- The measurement of the overall *U*-value of non-homogeneous window systems is fundamental for labeling purposes and to understand the thermal behavior of these systems, providing important information for the dynamic simulation of energy in buildings, and to foster new technologies;
- The measurement of the overall thermal transmittance of non-homogeneous assemblies incorporating PCMs is very challenging due to the variation of the main thermophysical properties of PCMs with temperature and the non-linear nature of the phase-change processes. The development of experimental dynamic approaches and standard procedures to measure the overall thermal transmittance of real-scale PCM-enhanced elements in conditions similar to those experimented in real applications is extremely challenging and it can be seen as a hot research area for the next decade.

Acknowledgments

This work was partly financed by FEDER funds through the Competitiveness Factors Operational Programme - COMPETE and by national funds through FCT – Foundation for Science and Technology within the scope of the project CENTRO-01-0145-FEDER-000006. It was also supported by FEDER funds through the COMPETE 2020 - Operational Programme for Competitiveness and Internationalization (POCI), and by Portuguese funds through FCT in the framework of the project POCI-01-0145-FEDER-016750 | PTDC/EMS-ENE/6079/2014.



REFERENCES

- [1] E. Sassine, "A practical method for in-situ thermal characterization of walls," *Case studies in thermal engineering*, vol. 8, pp. 84-93, 2016.
- [2] S. Schiavoni, F. D'Alessandro, F. Bianchi, and F. Asdrubali, "Insulation materials for the building sector: a review and comparative analysis," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 62, pp. 988-1011, 2016.
- [3] O. Kaynakli, "A review of the economical and optimum thermal insulation thickness for building applications," *Renewable and sustainable energy reviews*, vol. 16, pp. 415-425, 2012.
- [4] E. Rodrigues, N. Soares, M. S. Fernandes, A. R. Gaspar, Á. Gomes, and J. J. Costa, "An integrated energy performance-driven generative design methodology to foster modular lightweight steel framed dwellings in hot climates," *Energy for Sustainable Development*, vol. 44, pp. 21-36, 2018.
- [5] L. Evangelisti, C. Guattari, P. Gori, and F. Bianchi, "Heat transfer study of external convective and radiative coefficients for building applications," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 151, pp. 429-438, 2017.
- [6] E. Lucchi, "Thermal transmittance of historical brick masonries: A comparison among standard data, analytical calculation procedures, and in situ heat flow meter measurements," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 134, pp. 171-184, 2017.
- [7] B. Anderson, *BR* 443:2006 Conventions for U-value calculations. BRE, 2006.
- [8] ISO 6946:2017, Building components and building elements Thermal resistance and thermal transmittance Calculation method. International Organization for Standardization, 2017.
- [9] ISO 10211:2017, *Thermal bridges in building construction Heat flows and surface temperatures Detailed calculations*. International Organization for Standardization, 2017.
- [10] ISO 13370:2017, *Thermal performance of buildings Heat transfer via the ground Calculation methods*. International Organization for Standardization, 2017.
- [11] ISO 13786:2017, Thermal performance of building components Dynamic thermal characteristics -Calculation methods. International Organization for Standardization, 2017.

- [12] ISO 10077-1:2017, Thermal performance of windows, doors and shutters Calculation of thermal transmittance Part 1: General. International Organization for Standardization, 2017.
- [13] ISO 10077-2:2017, Thermal performance of windows, doors and shutters Calculation of thermal transmittance - Part 2: Numerical method for frames. International Organization for Standardization, 2017.
- [14] ISO 7345:1987, Thermal insulation Physical quantities and definitions. International Organization for Standardization, 1987.
- [15] V. Gori, V. Marincioni, P. Biddulph, and C. A. Elwell, "Inferring the thermal resistance and effective thermal mass distribution of a wall from in situ measurements to characterise heat transfer at both the interior and exterior surfaces," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 135, pp. 398-409, 2017.
- [16] greenTEG, "gSKIN® Application note : U-value measurement case study," 2015. [Online]. Available: https://www.greenteg.com/template/userfiles/gSKIN_Application-Note_U-Value_CaseStudy_1.7.pdf. [Accessed: Aug-2018].
- [17] ISO 9869-1:2014, *Thermal insulation Building elements In-situ measurement of thermal resistance and thermal transmittance Part 1: Heat flow meter method.* International Standard Organization, 2014.
- [18] C. Guattari, L. Evangelisti, P. Gori, and F. Asdrubali, "Influence of internal heat sources on thermal resistance evaluation through the heat flow meter method," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 135, pp. 187-200, 2017.
- [19] X. Meng, T. Luo, Y. Gao, L. Zhang, Q. Shen, and E. Long, "A new simple method to measure wall thermal transmittance in situ and its adaptability analysis," *Applied Thermal Engineering*, vol. 122, pp. 747-757, 2017.
- [20] G. Desogus, S. Mura, and R. Ricciu, "Comparing different approaches to in situ measurement of building components thermal resistance," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 43, pp. 2613-2620, 2011.
- [21] P. Santos, C. Martins, L. Simões da Silva, and L. Braganca, "Thermal performance of lightweight steel framed wall: The importance of flanking thermal losses," *Journal of Building Physics*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 81–98, 2014.
- [22] ASTM C1155-95, Standard practice for determining thermal resistance of building envelope components from the in-situ data. American Society for Testing and Materials, 2013.
- [23] I. Nardi, S. Sfarra, and D. Ambrosini, "Quantitative thermography for the estimation of the U-value: State of the art and a case study," *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, vol. 547, 2014.
- [24] C. Martins, P. Santos, and L. Simões da Silva, "Lightweight steel-framed thermal bridges mitigation strategies: A parametric study," *Journal of Building Physics*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 342-372, 2016.

- [25] M. T. Bomberg and K. R. Solcason, "Discussion of heat flow meter apparatus and transfer standards used for error analysis," *ASTM Special Technical Publications*, vol. 879, pp. 140-153, 1985.
- [26] A. Janković, B. Antunović, and L. Preradović, "Alternative methof for on site evaluation of thermal transmittance," *FACTA UNIVERSITATIS - Mechanical Engineering*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 341-351, 2017.
- [27] ASTM C1046-95, *Standard practice for in-situ measurement of heat flux and temperature on building envelope components*. American Society for Testing and Materials, 2013.
- [28] ASTM C518-17, Standard test method for steady-state thermal transmission properties by means of the heat flow meter apparatus. American Society for Testing and Materials, 2017.
- [29] ISO 8301:1991, Thermal insulation Determination of steady-state thermal resistance and related properties Heat flow meter apparatus. International Standard Organization, 1991.
- [30] ISO 10293:1997, Glass in building Determination of steady-state U values (thermal transmittance) of multiple glazing - Heat flow meter method. American Society for Testing and Materials, 1997.
- [31] ASTM C1784-14, Standard test method for using a heat flow meter apparatus for measuring thermal storage properties of phase change materials and products. American Society for Testing and Materials, 2014.
- [32] ASTM C1667-15, Standard test method for using heat flow meter apparatus to measure the centre-ofpanel thermal transmission properties of vacuum insulation panels. American Society for Testing and Materials, 2015.
- [33] I. A. Atsonios, I. D. Mandilaras, D. A. Kontogeorgos, and M. A. Founti, "A comparative assessment of the standardized methods for the in-situ measurement of the thermal resistance of building walls," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 154, pp. 198-206, 2017.
- [34] K. Gaspar, M. Casals, and M. Gangolells, "A comparison of standardized calculation methods for in situ measurements of façades U-value," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 130, pp. 592-599, 2016.
- [35] A.-H. Deconinck and S. Roels, "Comparison of characterisation methods determining the thermal resistance of building components from onsite measurements," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 130, pp. 309-320, 2016.
- [36] S. N. Flanders, A. O. Desjarlais, and T. J. Kunz, "A comparison of two techniques for R-value calculation, using winter in-situ data," *Thermal Envelopes VI/Heat Transfer in Walls I-Principles*, pp. 151-161, 1995.
- [37] O. Gutschker, "Parameter identification with the software package LORD," *Building and Environment*, vol. 43, pp. 163-169, 2008.

- [38] M. J. Jiménez, B. Porcar, and M. R. Heras, "Application of different dynamic analysis approaches to the estimation of the building component U value," *Energy and Environment*, vol. 44, pp. 361-367, 2009.
- [39] N. Yüksel, "The review of some commonly used methods and techniques to measure the thermal conductivity of insulation materials," in *Insulation materials in context of sustainability*, INTECH, 2016, pp. 113-140.
- [40] ASTM C177-13, Standard test method for steady-state heat flux measurements and thermal transmission properties by means of the guarded-hot-plate apparatus. American Society for Testing and Materials, 2013.
- [41] C. F. Eithun, "Development of a thermal conductivity apparatus: Analysis and design," Norwegian University of Science and Technology, 2012.
- [42] C. J. Shirtliffe, *Guarded hot plate and heat flow meter methodology: A symposium*, 879th ed. ASTM International, 1985, p. 244.
- [43] D. Salmon, "Thermal conductivity of insulations using guarded hot plates, including recent developments and sources of reference materials," *Measurement Science and Technology*, vol. 12, no. 12, 2001.
- [44] ISO 8302:1991, Thermal insulation Determination of steady-state thermal resistance and related properties Guarded hot plate apparatus. International Standard Organization, 1991.
- [45] J. Xamán, L. Lira, and J. Arce, "Analysis of the temperature distribution in a guarded hot plate apparatus for measuring thermal conductivity," *Applied Thermal Engineering*, vol. 29, pp. 617-623, 2009.
- [46] R. R. Zarr, "A history of testing heat insulators at the National Institute of Standards and Technology," *ASHRAE Transactions*, vol. 107, no. 2, pp. 1-11, 2001.
- [47] ISO 10291:1994, Glass in building Determination of steady-state U values (thermal transmittance) of multiple glazing – Guarded hot plate method. International Standard Organization, 1994.
- [48] G. Labudová and V. Vozárová, "Hot wire and hot plate apparatuses for the measurement of the thermophysical properties," *Becmник TITYT Transactions TSTU*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 85-96, 2002.
- [49] W. C. Thomas and R. R. Zarr, "Transient thermal response of a guarded-hot-plate apparatus for operation over an extended temperature range," *Journal of Research of the National Institute of Standards and Technology*, vol. 123, no. 123001, pp. 1-24, 2018.
- [50] F. Asdrubali and G. Baldinelli, "Thermal transmittance measurements with the hot box method: Calibration, experimental procedures, and uncertainty analyses of three different approaches," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 43, pp. 1618-1626, 2011.

- [51] BS 874-3.2:1990, Methods for determining thermal insulating properties. Tests for thermal transmittance and conductance. Calibrated hot-box method. BSI, 1990.
- [52] ISO 8990:1994, Thermal insulation Determination of steady-state thermal transmission properties -Calibrated and guarded hot box. International Standard Organization, 1994.
- [53] D. M. Burch, R. R. Zarr, and B. A. Licitra, "A dynamic test method for determining transfer function coefficients for a wall specimen using calibrated hot box," in *Insulation Materials, Testing and Application, ASTM STP 1030*, D. L. McElroy and J. F. Kimpflen, Eds. Philadelphia: American Society for Testing and Materials, 1990, pp. 345-361.
- [54] R. Miller, E. Perrine, and P. Linehan, "A calibrated/guarded hot-box test facility," in *Thermal Transmission Measurements of Insulation, ASTM STP 660*, R. P. Tye, Ed. American Society for Testing and Materials, 1978, pp. 329-341.
- [55] A. E. Fiorato, "Laboratory tests of thermal performance of exterior walls," in Proceedings of the ASHRAE/DOE-ORNL Conference on Thermal Performance of the Exterior Envelopes of Buildings, Orlando, Florida, December 1979, 1981, pp. 221-236.
- [56] ASTM C1363-11, Standard test method for thermal performance of building materials and envelope assemblies by means of a hot box apparatus. American Society for Testing and Materials, 2011.
- [57] W. P. Brown, K. R. Solvason, and A. G. Wilson, "A unique hot-box cold-room facility," ASHRAE Transactions, vol. 67, pp. 561-577, 1961.
- [58] C. J. Schumacher, J. F. Straube, D. G. Ober, and A. P. Grin, "Development of a new hot box apparatus to measure building enclosure thermal performance," in *Proceedings of Building XII - Thermal Performance of the Exterior Envelopes of Whole Buildings XII International Conference*, 2013, pp. 1-19.
- [59] K. E. Wilkes, R. L. Wendt, A. Delmas, and P. W. Childs, "Thermal performance of one loose-fill fiberglass attic insulation," in *Insulation Materials: Testing and Applications. 2nd Volume, ASTM STP 1116*, R. S. Graves and D. C. Wysocki, Eds. Philadelphia: American Society for Testing and Materials, 1991, pp. 275-291.
- [60] S. Seitz and C. MacDougall, "Design of an affordable hot box testing apparatus," in *16th NOCMAT* 2015, 2015.
- [61] R. G. Miller and W. P. Goss, "Hot box instrumentation, calibration and error estimation A survey," in *Insulation Materials: Testing and Applications. 2nd Volume, ASTM STP 1116*, R. S. Graves and D. C. Wysocki, Eds. Philadelphia: American Society for Testing and Materials, 1991, pp. 326-347.

- [62] J. Kosny and P. Childs, "Accuracy of hot box testing of steel stud walls," in *Insulation Materials: Testing and Application: 4th Volume: ASTM STP 1426*, O. Desjarlais and R. R. Zarr, Eds. ASTM International, 2002, pp. 147-158.
- [63] A. G. Lavine, J. L. Rucker, and K. E. Wilkes, "Flanking loss calibration for a calibrated hot box," in *Thermal Insulation, Materials, and Systems for Energy Conservation in the 80s, ASTM STP 789*, F. A. Govan, D. M. Greason, and J. D. McAllister, Eds. American Society for Testing and Materials, 1983, pp. 234-247.
- [64] ASTM C1199-14, Standard test method for measuring the steady-state thermal transmittance of fenestration systems using hot box methods. American Society for Testing and Materials, 2014.
- [65] ISO 12567-1:2010, Thermal performance of windows and doors Determination of thermal transmittance by the hot-box method - Part 1: Complete windows and doors. International Standard Organization, 2010.
- [66] ISO 12567-2:2005, Thermal performance of windows and doors Determination of thermal transmittance by the hot-box method - Part 2: Roof windows and other projecting windows. International Standard Organization, 2005.
- [67] C. K. Basak, G. Sarkar, and S. Neogi, "Performance evaluation of material and comparison of different temperature control strategies of a guarded hot box U-value test facility," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 105, pp. 258-262, 2015.
- [68] A. Ghosh, S. Ghosh, and S. Neogi, "Performance evaluation of a guarded hot box U-value measurement facility under different software based temperature control strategies," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 54, pp. 448-454, 2014.
- [69] W. C. Brown and D. G. Stephenson, "A guarded hot box procedure for determining the dynamic response of full-scale wall specimens Part I," *ASHRAE Transactions*, vol. 99, no. 1, pp. 632-642, 1993.
- [70] W. C. Brown and D. G. Stephenson, "Guarded hot box measurements of the dynamic heat transmission characteristics of seven wall specimens - Part II," ASHRAE Transactions, vol. 99, no. 1, pp. 643-660, 1993.
- [71] F. Geoola, Y. Kashti, A. Levi, and R. Brickman, "A study of the overall heat transfer coefficient of greenhouse cladding materials with thermal screens using the hot box method," *Polymer Testing*, vol. 28, pp. 470-474, 2009.
- [72] C. Buratti, E. Belloni, L. Lunghi, and M. Barbanera, "Thermal conductivity measurements by means of a new 'Small Hot-Box' apparatus: Manufacturing, calibration and preliminary experimental tests," *International Journal of Thermophysics*, vol. 37, pp. 1-23, 2016.

- [73] P. Modi, R. Bushehri, C. Georgantopoulou, and L. Mavromatidis, "Design and development of a mini scale hot box for thermal efficiency evaluation of an insulation building block prototype used in Bahrain," Advances in Building Energy Research, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 130-151, 2017.
- [74] E. Lucchi, "Applications of the infrared thermography in the energy audit of buildings: A review,"
 Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, vol. 82, no. 3, pp. 3077-3090, 2018.
- [75] C. A. Balaras and A. A. Argiriou, "Infrared thermography for building diagnostics," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 171-183, 2002.
- [76] T. Taylor, J. Counsell, and S. Gill, "Energy efficiency is more than skin deep: Improving construction quality control in new-build housing using thermography," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 66, pp. 222-231, 2013.
- [77] P. A. Fokaides and S. A. Kalogirou, "Application of infrared thermography for the determination of the overall heat transfer coefficient (U-Value) in building envelopes," *Applied Energy*, vol. 88, pp. 4358-4365, 2011.
- [78] F. Asdrubali, G. Baldinelli, and F. Bianchi, "A quantitative methodology to evaluate thermal bridges in buildings," *Applied Energy*, vol. 97, pp. 365-373, 2012.
- [79] P. Battalwar, J. Gokhale, and U. Bansod, "Infrared thermography and IR camera," *International Journal of Research In Science & Engineering*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 9-14, 2015.
- [80] M. O'Grady, A. A. Lechowska, and A. M. Harte, "Infrared thermography technique as an in-situ method of assessing heat loss through thermal bridging," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 135, pp. 20-32, 2017.
- [81] F. Asdrubali et al., "Evaluation of green buildings' overall performance through in situ monitoring and simulations," *Energies*, vol. 6, pp. 6525-6547, 2013.
- [82] L. Evangelisti, C. Guattari, P. Gori, and R. De Lieto Vollaro, "In situ thermal transmittance measurements for investigating differences between wall models and actual building performance," *Sustainability*, vol. 7, pp. 10388-10398, 2015.
- [83] F. Asdrubali, F. D'Alessandro, G. Baldinelli, and F. Bianchi, "Evaluating in situ thermal transmittance of green buildings masonries — A case study," *Case Studies in Construction Materials*, vol. 1, pp. 53-59, 2014.
- [84] D. J. Titman, "Applications of thermography in non-destructive testing of structures," NDT and E International, vol. 34, pp. 149-154, 2001.
- [85] M. Rahim, O. Douzane, A. D. Tran Le, G. Promis, and T. Langlet, "Experimental investigation of hygrothermal behavior of two bio-based building envelopes," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 139, pp. 608-615, 2017.

- [86] M. R. Clark, D. M. McCann, and M. C. Forde, "Application of infrared thermography to the nondestructive testing of concrete and masonry bridges," NDT & E International, vol. 36, pp. 265-275, 2003.
- [87] I. Nardi, D. Ambrosini, T. de Rubeis, S. Sfarra, S. Perilli, and G. Pasqualoni, "A comparison between thermographic and flow-meter methods for the evaluation of thermal transmittance of different wall constructions," *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, vol. 655, pp. 1-10, 2015.
- [88] J. R. R. Riachos, "Avaliação da Determinação Experimental do Coeficiente de Transmissão Térmica com Recurso à Termografia," Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade de Coimbra, 2014.
- [89] X. P. Maldague, "Introduction to NDT by active infrared thermography," *Materials Evaluation*, vol. 60, no. 9, pp. 1060–1073, 2002.
- [90] ISO/FDIS 9869-2, Thermal insulation Building elements In-situ measurement of thermal resistance and thermal transmittance - Part 2: Infrared method for frame structure dwelling. International Standard Organization.
- [91] ASTM C1060-11a, Standard practice for thermographic inspection of insulation installations in envelope cavities of frame buildings. American Society for Testing and Materials, 2015.
- [92] ISO 6781:1983, Thermal insulation Qualitative detection of thermal irregularities in building envelopes Infrared method. International Organization for Standardization, 1983.
- [93] ASTM E1316-17a, Standard terminology for non-destructive examinations. American Society for Testing and Materials, 2017.
- [94] ISO 10878:2013, Non-destructive testing Infrared thermography Vocabulary. International Organization for Standardization, 2013.
- [95] ISO 10880:2017, Non-destructive testing Infrared thermographic testing General principles. International Organization for Standardization, 2017.
- [96] ASTM E1213-14, Standard practice for minimum resolvable temperature difference for thermal imaging systems. American Society for Testing and Materials, 2014.
- [97] ASTM E1311-14, *Standard practice for minimum detectable temperature difference for thermal imaging systems*. American Society for Testing and Materials, 2014.
- [98] ISO 18251-1:2017, Non-destructive testing Infrared thermography Part 1: Characteristics of system and equipment. International Organization for Standardization, 2017.
- [99] ASTM E1862-14, *Standard practice for measuring and compensating for reflected temperature using infrared imaging radiometers*. American Society for Testing and Materials, 2014.

- [100] ASTM E1933-14, Standard practice for measuring and compensating for emissivity using infrared imaging radiometers. American Society for Testing and Materials, 2014.
- [101] R. Albatici and A. M. Tonelli, "Infrared thermovision technique for the assessment of thermal transmittance value of opaque building elements on site," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 42, pp. 2177-2183, 2010.
- [102] R. Albatici, A. M. Tonelli, and M. Chiogna, "A comprehensive experimental approach for the validation of quantitative infrared thermography in the evaluation of building thermal transmittance," *Applied Energy*, vol. 141, pp. 218-228, 2015.
- [103] I. Nardi, D. Paoletti, D. Ambrosini, T. de Rubeis, and S. Sfarra, "Validation of quantitative IR thermography for estimating the U-value by a hot box apparatus," *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, vol. 655, pp. 1-9, 2015.
- [104] B. Tejedor, M. Casals, M. Gangolells, and X. Roca, "Quantitative internal infrared thermography for determining in-situ thermal behaviour of façades," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 151, pp. 187-197, 2017.
- [105] M. O'Grady, A. A. Lechowska, and A. M. Harte, "Application of infrared thermography technique to the thermal assessment of multiple thermal bridges and windows," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 168, pp. 347-362, 2018.
- [106] F. Bianchi, A. L. Pisello, G. Baldinelli, and F. Asdrubali, "Infrared thermography assessment of thermal bridges in building envelope: Experimental validation in a test room setup," *Sustainability*, vol. 6, pp. 7107-7120, 2014.
- [107] F. Ascione, N. Bianco, R. F. De Masi, G. M. Mauro, M. Musto, and G. P. Vanoli, "Experimental validation of a numerical code by thin film heat flux sensors for the resolution of thermal bridges in dynamic conditions," *Applied Energy*, vol. 124, pp. 213-222, 2014.
- [108] J. Quinten and V. Feldheim, "Dynamic modelling of multidimensional thermal bridges in building envelopes: Review of existing methods, application and new mixed method," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 110, pp. 284-293, 2016.
- [109] P. Aversa et al., "Infrared thermography for the investigation of dynamic thermal behaviour of opaque building elements: Comparison between empty and filled with hemp fibres prototype walls," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 152, pp. 264-272, 2017.
- [110] F. Ascione, F. Ceroni, R. F. De Masi, F. de' Rossi, and M. R. Pecce, "Historical buildings: multidisciplinary approach to structural/energy diagnosis and performance assessment," *Applied Energy*, vol. 185, pp. 1517-1528, 2017.
- [111] C. Rye and C. Scott, "The SPAB research report 1: U-value report," 2012.

- [112] P. G. Cesaratto and M. De Carli, "A measuring campaign of thermal conductance in situ and possible impacts on net energy demand in buildings," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 59, pp. 29-36, 2013.
- [113] A. Byrne, G. Byrne, A. Davies, and A. J. Robinson, "Transient and quasi-steady thermal behaviour of a building envelope due to retrofitted cavity wall and ceiling insulation," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 61, pp. 356-365, 2013.
- [114] E. Lucchi, "Thermal transmittance of historical stone masonries: A comparison among standard, calculated and measured data," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 151, 2017.
- [115] J. B. Williamson, J. Stinson, C. Garnier, and J. Currie, "In-situ monitoring of thermal refurbishment on pre-1919 properties in Scotland," *International Journal of Sustainable Construction*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 77-84, 2014.
- [116] S. Rhee-Duverne and P. Baker, "English Heritage Research into the thermal performance of traditional brick walls: Executive summary," 2013.
- [117] A. Boss, "BRE Report In-situ measurements of wall U-values in English housing," 2014.
- [118] S. Doran, "Field investigations of the thermal performance of construction elements as built Report No. 78132," 2000.
- [119] X. Meng, B. Yan, Y. Gao, J. Wang, W. Zhang, and E. Long, "Factors affecting the in situ measurement accuracy of the wall heat transfer coefficient using the heat flow meter method," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 86, pp. 754-765, 2015.
- [120] P. G. Cesaratto, M. De Carli, and S. Marinetti, "Effect of different parameters on the in situ thermal conductance evaluation," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 43, pp. 1792-1801, 2011.
- [121] A. Ahmad, M. Maslehuddin, and L. M. Al-Hadhrami, "In situ measurement of thermal transmittance and thermal resistance of hollow reinforced precast concrete walls," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 84, pp. 132-141, 2014.
- [122] G. Ficco, F. Iannetta, E. Ianniello, F. R. d'A Alfano, and M. Dell'Isola, "U-value in situ measurement for energy diagnosis of existing buildings," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 104, pp. 108-121, 2015.
- [123] L. Evangelisti, C. Guattari, P. Gori, R. de L. Vollaro, and F. Asdrubali, "Experimental investigation of the influence of convective and radiative heat transfers on thermal transmittance measurements," *International Communications in Heat and Mass Transfer*, vol. 78, pp. 214-223, 2016.
- [124] G. Baldinelli, "A methodology for experimental evaluations of low-e barriers thermal properties: Field tests and comparison with theoretical models," *Building and Environment*, vol. 45, pp. 1016-1024, 2010.

- [125] A. Moropoulou, K. C. Labropoulos, E. T. Delegou, M. Karoglou, and A. Bakolas, "Non-destructive techniques as a tool for the protection of built cultural heritage," *Construction and Building Materials*, vol. 48, pp. 1222-1239, 2013.
- [126] E. Grinzato, V. Vavilov, and T. Kauppinen, "Quantitative infrared thermography in buildings," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 29, pp. 1-9, 1998.
- [127] G. Litti, S. Khoshdel, A. Audenaert, and J. Braet, "Hygrothermal performance evaluation of traditional brick masonry in historic buildings," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 105, pp. 393-411, 2015.
- [128] S. M. Ocaña, I. C. Guerrero, and I. G. Requena, "Thermographic survey of two rural buildings in Spain," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 36, pp. 515-523, 2004.
- [129] E. Z. Kordatos, D. A. Exarchos, C. Stavrakos, A. Moropoulou, and T. E. Matikas, "Infrared thermographic inspection of murals and characterization of degradation in historic monuments," *Construction and Building Materials*, vol. 48, pp. 1261-1265, 2013.
- [130] D. Caccavelli and H. Gugerli, "TOBUS a European diagnosis and decision-making tool for office building upgrading," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 34, pp. 113-119, 2002.
- [131] K. E. A. Ohlsson and T. Olofsson, "Quantitative infrared thermography imaging of the density of heat flow rate through a building element surface," *Applied Energy*, vol. 134, pp. 499-505, 2014.
- [132] I. Danielski and M. Fröling, "Diagnosis of buildings' thermal performance a quantitative method using thermography under non-steady state heat flow," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 83, pp. 320-329, 2015.
- [133] V. Tzifa, G. Papadakos, A. G. Papadopoulou, V. Marinakis, and J. Psarras, "Uncertainty and method limitations in a short- time measurement of the effective thermal transmittance on a building envelope using an infrared camera," *International Journal of Sustainable Energy*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 28-46, 2017.
- [134] K. Martín, I. Flores, C. Escudero, A. Apaolaza, and J. M. Sala, "Methodology for the calculation of response factors through experimental tests and validation with simulation," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 42, pp. 461-467, 2010.
- [135] J. M. Sala, A. Urresti, K. Martín, I. Flores, and A. Apaolaza, "Static and dynamic thermal characterisation of a hollow brick wall: Tests and numerical analysis," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 40, pp. 1513-1520, 2008.
- [136] K. Martin, A. Campos-Celador, C. Escudero, I. Gómez, and J. M. Sala, "Analysis of a thermal bridge in a guarded hot box testing facility," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 50, pp. 139-149, 2012.
- [137] F. Ascione, N. Bianco, R. F. De Masi, F. de' Rossi, and G. P. Vanoli, "Simplified state space representation for evaluating thermal bridges in building: Modelling, application and validation of a methodology," *Applied Thermal Engineering*, vol. 61, pp. 344-354, 2013.

- [138] D. P. Aviram, A. N. Fried, and J. J. Roberts, "Thermal properties of a variable cavity wall," *Building and Environment*, vol. 36, pp. 1057-1072, 2001.
- [139] E. A. Adam and P. J. Jones, "Thermophysical properties of stabilised soil building blocks," *Building and Environment*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 245-253, 1995.
- [140] H. Kus, E. Özkan, Ö. Göcer, and E. Edis, "Hot box measurements of pumice aggregate concrete hollow block walls," *Construction and Building Materials*, vol. 38, pp. 837-845, 2013.
- [141] M. B. Özdeniz, "Hygrothermal performance of a new briquette design," *Building and*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 59-65, 1996.
- [142] T. Thorsell and M. Bomberg, "Integrated methodology for evaluation of energy performance of the building enclosures: part 3 – uncertainty in thermal measurements," *Journal of Building Physics*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 83-96, 2011.
- [143] T. Thorsell and M. Bomberg, "Integrated methodology for evaluation of energy performance of building enclosures: Part II Examples of application to residential walls," *Journal of Building Physics*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 49-65, 2008.
- [144] Y. Gao, J. J. Roux, C. Teodosiu, and L. H. Zhao, "Reduced linear state model of hollow blocks walls, validation using hot box measurements," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 36, pp. 1107-1115, 2004.
- [145] K. G. Wakili and C. Tanner, "U-value of a dried wall made of perforated porous clay bricks Hot box measurement versus numerical analysis," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 35, pp. 675-680, 2003.
- [146] Y.-W. Jeong, T.-H. Koh, K.-S. Youm, and J. Moon, "Experimental evaluation of thermal performance and durability of thermally-enhanced concretes," *Applied Sciences*, vol. 7, pp. 1-16, 2017.
- [147] A. Donatelli, P. Aversa, and V. A. M. Luprano, "Set-up of an experimental procedure for the measurement of thermal transmittances via infrared thermography on lab-made prototype walls," *Infrared Physics and Technology*, vol. 79, pp. 135-143, 2016.
- [148] I. Nardi, D. Paoletti, D. Ambrosini, T. de Rubeis, and S. Sfarra, "U-value assessment by infrared thermography: A comparison of different calculation methods in a Guarded Hot Box," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 122, pp. 211-221, 2016.
- [149] R. Madding, "Finding R-values of stud-frame constructed houses with IR thermography," in Proceedings of InfraMation, 2008.
- [150] G. Dall'O', L. Sarto, and A. Panza, "Infrared screening of residential buildings for energy audit purposes: Results of a field test," *Energies*, vol. 6, pp. 3859-3878, 2013.

- [151] I. Simões, N. Simões, A. Tadeu, and J. Riachos, "Laboratory assessment of thermal transmittance of homogeneous building elements using infrared thermography," in 12th International Conference on Quantitative Infrared Thermography (QIRT), 2014.
- [152] M. Vollmer and K.-P. Möllmann, *Infrared thermal imaging: Fundamentals, research and applications*.Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, 2010.
- [153] T. Ruuska, J. Vinha, and H. Kivioja, "Measuring thermal conductivity and specific heat capacity values of inhomogeneous materials with a heat flow meter apparatus," *Journal of Building Engineering*, vol. 9, pp. 135-141, 2017.
- [154] M. Manzan, E. Z. De Zorzi, and W. Lorenzi, "Numerical simulation and sensitivity analysis of a steel framed internal insulation system," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 158, pp. 1703-1710, 2018.
- [155] M. Manzan, E. Z. De Zorzi, and W. Lorenzi, "Experimental and numerical comparison of internal insulation systems for building refurbishment," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 82, pp. 493-498, 2015.
- [156] N. Soares, P. Santos, H. Gervásio, J. J. Costa, and L. Simões da Silva, "Energy efficiency and thermal performance of lightweight steel-framed (LSF) construction: A review," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 78, pp. 194-209, 2017.
- [157] American Society of Heating Refrigerating and Air-conditioning Engineers, "ASHRAE Handbook of Fundamentals Refrigerating and Air-conditioning Engineers," 1993.
- [158] J. Kosny, J. E. Christian, E. Barbour, and J. Goodrow, "Thermal performance of steel-framed walls -CRADA Final Report for CRADA Number ORNL93-0235," 1994.
- [159] M. Gorgolewski, "Developing a simplified method of calculating U-values in light steel framing," *Building and Environment*, vol. 42, pp. 230-236, 2007.
- [160] S. Doran and M. Gorgolewski, U-values for light steel-frame construction BRE Digest 465, Building Research Establishment. 2002.
- [161] N. Soares, A. R. Gaspar, P. Santos, and J. J. Costa, "Multi-dimensional optimization of the incorporation of PCM-drywalls in lightweight steel-framed residential buildings in different climates," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 70, pp. 411-421, 2014.
- [162] P. Santos, L. Simões da Silva, and V. Ungureanu, *Energy efficiency of light-weight steel-framed buildings*. Publication of ECCS TC14 Sustainability & Eco-Efficiency of Steel Construction, 2012.
- [163] P. Santos, C. Martins, and L. Simões da silva, "Thermal performance of lightweight steel-framed construction systems," *Metallurgical Research & Technology*, vol. 111, pp. 329-338, 2014.
- [164] J. Kosny and J. E. Christian, "Thermal evaluation of several configurations of insulation and structural materials for some metal stud walls," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 157-163, 1995.

- [165] T. Höglund and H. Burstrand, "Slotted steel studs to reduce thermal bridges in insulated walls," *Thin-Walled Structures*, vol. 32, no. 1-3, pp. 81-109, 1998.
- [166] T. R. Blomberg and J. Claesson, "Heat transmission through walls with slotted steel studs," in *Thermal Performance of the Exterior Envelopes of Buildings VII, Conference proceeding by ASHRAE*, 1998, pp. 621-628.
- [167] L. Zalewski, S. Lassue, D. Rousse, and K. Boukhalfa, "Experimental and numerical characterization of thermal bridges in prefabricated building walls," *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 51, pp. 2869-2877, 2010.
- [168] R. Mayer et al., "Finite element thermal modeling and correlation of various building wall assembly systems," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 75, pp. 410-418, 2014.
- [169] G. M. Soret, D. Lázaro, J. Carrascal, D. Alvear, M. Aitchison, and J. L. Torero, "Thermal characterization of building assemblies by means of transient data assimilation," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 155, pp. 128-142, 2017.
- [170] A. Amundarain, "Assessment of the thermal efficiency, structure and fire resistance of lightweight building systems for optimised deign," University of Edinburgh, 2007.
- [171] I. A. Atsonios, I. D. Mandilaras, D. A. Kontogeorgos, and M. A. Founti, "Two new methods for the insitu measurement of the overall thermal transmittance of cold frame lightweight steel-framed walls," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 170, pp. 183-194, 2018.
- [172] Y. Li, J. Yao, R. Li, Z. Zhang, and J. Zhang, "Thermal and energy performance of a steel-bamboo composite wall structure," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 156, pp. 225-237, 2017.
- [173] R. Baetens, B. P. Jelle, and A. Gustavsen, "Aerogel insulation for building applications: a state-of-the-art review," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 43, pp. 761-769, 2011.
- [174] Á. Lakatos, "Comprehensive thermal transmittance investigations carried out on opaque aerogel insulation blanket," *Materials and Structures*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 1-12, 2017.
- [175] K. G. Wakili, B. Binder, M. Zimmermann, and C. Tanner, "Efficiency verification of a combination of high performance and conventional insulation layers in retrofitting a 130-year old building," *Energy & Buildings*, vol. 82, pp. 237-242, 2014.
- [176] R. Walker and S. Pavía, "Thermal performance of a selection of insulation materials suitable for historic buildings," *Building and Environment*, vol. 94, pp. 155-165, 2015.
- [177] M. Alam, H. Singh, and M. C. Limbachiya, "Vacuum Insulation Panels (VIPs) for building construction industry – a review of the contemporary developments and future directions," *Applied Energy*, vol. 88, pp. 3592-3602, 2011.

- [178] K. Ghazi Wakili, R. Bundi, and B. Binder, "Effective thermal conductivity of vacuum insulation panels," *Building Research and Information*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 293-299, 2004.
- [179] T. Nussbaumer, K. Ghazi Wakili, and C. Tanner, "Experimental and numerical investigation of the thermal performance of a protected vacuum-insulation system applied to a concrete wall," *Applied Energy*, vol. 83, no. 8, pp. 841-855, 2006.
- [180] A. Capozzoli, S. Fantucci, F. Favoino, and M. Perino, "Vacuum insulation panels: analysis of the thermal performance of both single panel and multilayer boards," *Energies*, vol. 8, pp. 2528-2547, 2015.
- [181] C. Baldwin, C. A. Cruickshank, M. Schiedel, and B. Conley, "Comparison of steady-state and in-situ testing of high thermal resistance walls incorporating vacuum insulation panels," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 78, pp. 3246-3251, 2015.
- [182] I. Mandilaras, I. Atsonios, G. Zannis, and M. Founti, "Thermal performance of a building envelope incorporating ETICS with vacuum insulation panels and EPS," *Energy & Buildings*, vol. 85, pp. 654-665, 2014.
- [183] L. E. Mavromatidis, P. Michel, M. El Mankibi, and M. Santamouris, "Study on transient heat transfer through multilayer thermal insulation: numerical analysis and experimental investigation," *Building Simulation*, vol. 3, pp. 279-294, 2010.
- [184] Z. Ye, C. M. Wells, C. G. Carrington, and N. J. Hewitt, "Thermal conductivity of wool and wool-hemp insulation," *International Journal of Energy Research*, vol. 30, pp. 37-49, 2006.
- [185] A. Shea, K. Wall, and P. Walker, "Evaluation of the thermal performance of an innovative prefabricated natural plant fibre building system," *Building Services Engineering Research and Technology*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 369-380, 2012.
- [186] S. W. Lee, C. H. Lim, and E. @ I. B. Salleh, "Reflective thermal insulation systems in building: a review on radiant barrier and reflective insulation," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 65, pp. 643-661, 2016.
- [187] C. Escudero, K. Martin, A. Erkoreka, I. Flores, and J. M. Sala, "Experimental thermal characterization of radiant barriers for building insulation," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 59, pp. 62-72, 2013.
- [188] N. Smith, N. Isaacs, J. Burgess, and I. Cox-Smith, "Thermal performance of secondary glazing as a retrofit alternative for single-glazed windows," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 54, pp. 47-51, 2012.
- [189] I. Cox-Smith, "Proposed method for measuring the thermal properties of window in the new BRANZ guarded hotbox," in *IPENZ Annual conference*, 1998.
- [190] D. Appelfeld and S. Svendsen, "Experimental analysis of energy performance f a ventilated window for heat recovery under controlled conditions," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 43, pp. 3200-3207, 2011.

- [191] C. K. Basak, D. Mitra, A. Ghosh, G. Sarkar, and S. Neogi, "Performance evaluation of a guarded hot box test facility using fuzzy logic controller for different building material samples," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 90, pp. 185-190, 2016.
- [192] J. H. Klems, "A calibrated hot box for testing window systems Construction, calibration, and measurements on prototype high-performance windows," in ASHRAE/DOE Conference on the thermal performance of the exterior envelopes of buildings, 1979.
- [193] A. Lechowska, J. Schnotale, M. Fedorczak-Cisak, and M. Paszkowski, "Measurement of thermal transmittance of multi-layer glazing with ultrathin internal glass partitions," *Technical Transactions -Civil Engineering*, pp. 273-279, 2014.
- [194] Y. Fang, P. C. Eames, B. Norton, and T. J. Hyde, "Experimental validation of a numerical model for heat transfer in vacuum glazing," *Solar Energy*, vol. 80, pp. 564-577, 2006.
- [195] Y. Fang, T. Hyde, N. Hewitt, P. C. Eames, and B. Norton, "Comparison of vacuum glazing thermal performance predicted using two- and three-dimensional models and their experimental validation," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 93, pp. 1492-1498, 2009.
- [196] R. E. Collins and T. M. Simko, "Current status of the science and technology of vacuum glazing," *Solar Energy*, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 189-213, 1998.
- [197] N. Soares, J. J. Costa, A. R. Gaspar, and P. Santos, "Review of passive PCM latent heat thermal energy storage systems towards buildings' energy efficiency," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 59, pp. 82-103, 2013.
- [198] L. F. Cabeza et al., "Unconventional experimental technologies available for phase change materials (PCM) characterization. Part 1. Thermophysical properties," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 43, pp. 1399-1414, 2015.
- [199] Y. Dutil et al., "Modeling phase change materials behavior in building applications: comments on material characterization and model validation," *Renewable Energy*, vol. 61, pp. 132-135, 2014.
- [200] M. Lachheb, Z. Younsi, H. Naji, M. Karkri, and S. Ben, "Thermal behavior of a hybrid PCM/plaster: a numerical and experimental investigation," *Applied Thermal Engineering*, vol. 111, pp. 49-59, 2017.
- [201] C. Amaral, R. Vicente, V. M. Ferreira, and T. Silva, "Polyurethane foams with microencapsulated phase change material: comparative analysis of thermal conductivity characterization approaches," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 153, pp. 392-402, 2017.
- [202] N. Shukla, A. Fallahi, and J. Kosny, "Performance characterization of PCM impregnated gypsum board for building applications," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 30, pp. 370-379, 2012.

- [203] J. Kosny, E. Kossecka, A. Brzezinski, A. Tleoubaev, and D. Yarbrough, "Dynamic thermal performance analysis of fiber insulations containing bio-based phase change materials (PCMs)," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 52, pp. 122-131, 2012.
- [204] I. D. Mandilaras, D. A. Kontogeorgos, and M. A. Founti, "A hybrid methodology for the determination of the effective heat capacity of PCM enhanced building components," *Renewable Energy*, vol. 76, pp. 790-804, 2015.
- [205] P. Principi and R. Fioretti, "Thermal analysis of the application of pcm and low emissivity coating in hollow bricks," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 51, pp. 131-142, 2012.
- [206] T. Silva, R. Vicente, N. Soares, and V. Ferreira, "Experimental testing and numerical modelling of masonry wall solution with PCM incorporation: A passive construction solution," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 49, pp. 235-245, 2012.
- [207] R. Vicente and T. Silva, "Brick masonry walls with PCM macrocapsules: An experimental approach," *Applied Thermal Engineering*, vol. 67, pp. 24-34, 2014.
- [208] S. Cao, A. Gustavsen, S. Uvsløkk, B. P. Jelle, J. Gilbert, and J. Maunuksela, "The Effect of Wall-Integrated Phase Change Material Panels on the Indoor Air and Wall Temperature – Hot box Experiments," in Zero emission buildings - proceedings of renewable energy conference 2010; 2010: Trondheim, Norway, 2010, pp. 15-26.